UNIVERSITY OF TARTU Faculty of Social Sciences Johan Skytte Institute of Political Studies

Taisiia Nahorna

ENFORCEMENT OF THE EUROPEAN UNION CORE VALUES: EU RESPONSES TO THE EROSION OF THE EUROPEAN VALUES IN AUSTRIA, POLAND AND HUNGARY

MA thesis

Supervisor: Piret Ehin, PhD

I have written this Master's thesis independently. All viewpoints of other authors, literary	
sources and data from elsewhere used for writing this paper have been referenced.	
Taisiia Nahorna	
/ signature of author	
The defence will take place on	
time / / address / in auditorium number /	
number /	

...../ position /

ENFORCEMENT OF THE EUROPEAN UNION CORE VALUES: EU RESPONSES TO THE EROSION OF THE EUROPEAN VALUES IN AUSTRIA, POLAND AND HUNGARY

Taisiia Nahorna

Abstract

This thesis analyzes the mechanisms ensuring compliance with the EU values that the EU has utilized in the cases of Austria (1999-2000), Hungary (2010-2020), and Poland (2015-2020). The objective of the thesis is to find out what instruments the EU has at its disposal to address value breaches by member states, and how and with what results these instruments have been used. This thesis aims to explain why the EU has not been able to tackle the issue of value breach in member states efficiently by examining and assessing the available mechanisms. To examine the EU's response to the value breach in the selected member states, process tracing is applied. The timeline of the developments and crucial moments are assessed based on the information received from the treaty provisions, secondary legislation, press releases of the EU institutions and secondary analysis. The conclusions are made that due to the blurred nature of values the existing mechanisms as infringement proceedings, Article 7 procedure, Rule of Law Framework have proven themselves to be inefficient. Moreover, the EU creates a suitable environment for the violating states to proceed with their illiberal developments through funding them and engaging in a dialogue within the existing culture of cooperation as opposed to imposing punitive measures.

Table of Contents

Introduction	6
Chapter 1. Theorizing EU mechanisms ensuring value compliance	9
1.1. Europeanisation	
1.2. Mechanisms of Europeanisation	12
1.3. Important factors and outcomes of Europeanisation	
1.4. Mechanisms ensuring value compliance	
1.5. Summary and theoretical expectations	20
Chapter 2. The EU's toolbox for ensuring compliance with values	21
2.1. Fundamental values of the EU	
2.2. Infringement proceedings	23
2.3. Article 7 procedure	25
2.4. Rule of Law Framework	28
2.5. Other mechanisms	29
2.6. Institutions involved	31
2.7. New mechanisms proposed.	32
Chapter 3. EU handling of value breaches by member states: case studies	35
3.1 Research design, methods and data	
3.2 Austria (1999-2000)	37
3.2.1 Developments in Austria	37
3.2.2. EU's response	38
3.3 Poland (2015-2020)	41
3.3.1. Developments in Poland.	
3.3.2. EU's response	44
3.4 Hungary (2010-2020)	
3.4.1 Developments in Hungary	47
3.4.2. EU's response	50
3.5. Assessment and potential solutions	53
Conclusions	57
Bibliography	60
Appendices	
1 ppointiood	13

List of abbreviations

CJEU – Court of Justice of the European Union

CVM – Cooperation and Verification Mechanism

EP – European Parliament

EPP – European People's Party

EU – European Union

FPÖ – Freiheitliche Partei Österreichs, Freedom Party in Austria

LIBE – European Parliament Committee on Civil Liberties, Justice and Home Affairs

NCJ - National Council for the Judiciary in Poland

PiS – Prawo i Sprawedliwość, Law and Justice Party in Poland

RoLF – Rule of Law Framework

TEU – Treaty on European Union

TFEU – Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union

Introduction

During the last decade, the EU has been experiencing democratic backsliding. Countries that promised to share European values before the accession, do not have strong incentives to keep their promises after having joined the EU. Some of them have deviated from the norms of liberal democracy. This results in serious implications not only for the states in which illiberal reforms unfold but also for the EU. Illiberal developments in the member states undermine the status of the EU as the community of law and values. Other EU members are becoming more alarmed as the EU is based on mutual trust and cooperation, where the structures of all states are intertwined. Europeanisation of the states' values it not only a matter of domestic scale as it affects the functioning of the whole European Union. The value crisis poses a great threat to the whole existence of the European Union as the values form the foundation of it.

The increasing concern stimulates the EU to come up with a response that would halt the erosion of values in the member states. This thesis will analyze the EU's responses to the erosion of democratic values in Austria, Hungary and Poland. The timeframe and the nature of the developments differ in each of these states. However, there is one thing these cases have in common. The EU has brought up the possibility of imposing penalties against the member states that diverge from the EU values on many occasions throughout its history. Nevertheless, only in relation to Austria, Hungary and Poland these measures were eventually applied. The pattern of the EU's actions differs in every case due to the specificity of the value domain. As the values lack precise definition it constitutes a problem when building mechanisms ensuring value compliance.

The objective of the thesis is to find out what instruments the EU has at its disposal to address value breaches by member states, and how and with what results these instruments have been used. This thesis aims to explain why the EU has not been able to tackle the issue of value breach in member states efficiently, by examining and assessing the available mechanisms. This work will focus on the assessment of the mechanisms ensuring compliance with the values that the EU has developed over time. The research tasks are to define these mechanisms based on their description in the regulatory framework of the EU and to provide an evaluation of their efficiency in practice. The central expectation of this work is that these mechanisms have developed over time in

response to challenges posed by illiberal trends in the member states, however, the existing instruments do not add up to an effective framework for ensuring compliance.

This research will contribute to the growing body of literature on compliance with the EU values. Most of the existing studies tend to focus on describing successful Europeanisation and the cases of failure, especially when it comes to the member states, receive less attention. Also, compliance with the EU law in the existing literature is usually analyzed through the prism of directive implementation. However, the problem of breaching EU values has been exacerbated only recently and remains underresearched. This problem requires an interdisciplinary approach, therefore, it will be addressed both from the perspective of political sciences and EU law. The mechanisms to ensure compliance are outlined in the legal basis of the EU, however, their application remains highly political. The value crisis is closely linked to the questions of balance between sovereignty and supranational governance, nature of the EU and its capability as an integration project to develop further.

This study will start with providing an overview of theoretical approaches related to the issue and stating the expectations that stem from the theory. The theory chosen for this thesis is Europeanisation, which describes the interaction between the EU and the member states. The hard and the soft mechanisms of Europeanization will be analyzed as they are applied when ensuring the value compliance. This theory was also chosen as the developments in Austria, Poland and Hungary pose the question of the extent and limitations of Europeanisation. Next, before examining the existing mechanisms linked to values, the essence of the EU values themselves is explained. Then the practical mechanisms of ensuring value compliance available to the EU will be listed and analyzed. The third chapter examines the utilization of these mechanisms in practice in the specific cases of Austria, Poland and Hungary. Based on the assessment, recommendations for future enhancement of the mechanisms are outlined. Finally, conclusions are made.

Having stated the agenda of this research, it is also important to indicate what this thesis is not aiming to do. This work is not going to explain the reasons why the chosen member states experience domestic transformations that lead to the erosion of the European values. The focus will remain on the EU responses to the issue and tools it has developed. The value breaches committed by the states in the empirical part will only be

briefly summarized without the aim to explain why exactly the governments chose and persisted in pursuing particular policies.

Chapter 1. Theorizing EU mechanisms ensuring value compliance

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a theoretical background with the aim to explain the relationship between the EU and member states in the domain of the rule of law value compliance. This chapter includes a comprehensive and systematic overview of the Europeanisation framework in order to derive the expectations for the empirical analysis. This framework was chosen as it puts the main emphasis on the interaction between the EU and its member states, analyzing the top-down and the bottom-up influences. The value breach in the member states can be interpreted as an instance of Europeanisation failure, where the EU was unable to ensure compliance of the member states with its values. The interaction between the EU and the member states is the central problem that this thesis analyses and the Europeanisation theory explains how exactly this interaction functions.

More specifically, this chapter will define the key premises of the theory. The place of the Europeanisation framework in the broader context of the literature on theories of integration will be assessed. The meaning of Europeanisation will be explained through the historical context of the theory's emergence and its position vis-à-vis other theories. This study will explain how the Europeanisation works, including the definition of Europeanisation levels and identification of the factors that are important for successful Europeanisation. The Europeanisation mechanisms will be analyzed in detail, focusing on the question of what is the nature of these mechanisms and why they vary depending on the domain. This would help to answer the questions why exactly the Europeanisation fails. Based on this analysis, theoretical expectations will be offered, which will later be tested in the empirical part.

1.1. Europeanisation

The theories explaining European integration have evolved together with the development of the European project. The very first theories such as federalism, functionalism and transactionalism had less explanatory power and lost their relevance with time (Eilstrup-Sangiovanni, 2006, p. 34). As a response to that emerged the key debates in the history of the EU between intergovernmentalism and supranationalism (Schmidt, 1996), between rationalism and constructivism (Jupille, Caporaso and Checkel,

2003, p. 11). Compared to the mentioned theories, Europeanisation constitutes a rather new framework. This theory started developing with the deepening of integration within the Union and the increase in the impact of the EU on the member states. Some scholars divide all the existing Europeanisation research into three waves. The first wave concentrates on the European integration and the efforts at the EU level. The second wave investigates Europeanisation as a factor that leads to domestic changes. The third wave is more recent and is supposed to constitute a combination of the previous two waves, dedicating its attention to both the EU and domestic level efforts that result in changes (Holzhacker and Haverland, 2006, p.1).

Despite the fact that Europeanization is a relatively new approach in the European studies, it is becoming more and more widely applied as it corresponds to the demands of the current state of affairs in the EU. The debates between the earlier invented theories became outdated. The EU became more fragmented and polycentric by its nature, which required a different approach when examining it. This became especially evident in the 1990-s when with the Maastricht Treaty the EU clearly declared its three pillar structure with the different levels of competence division between the EU and the states. This Treaty marked the creation of an ever-closer Union of political nature (Eur-Lex, 2018). The Europeanization theory to some extent constitutes a mixture of all previous theoretical approaches, using their key premises to explain the on-going developments. For instance, on one hand, as the multi-level governance and supranationalism theories, Europeanisation studies the process of "uploading" domestic policies to the EU level. On the other hand, as the intergovernmentalism theory, Europeanisation examines the state of affairs on the domestic level and how it influences European integration (Graziano and Vink, 2013, p. 33). At the same time, Europeanisation is an essentially new framework which as opposed to all previous theories does not only analyze the drivers of European integration, but also explains how exactly all the levels of the EU interact.

Compared to other theories, Europeanisation constitutes more of a framework rather than a clear and concise theory. Due to this fact, Europeanisation can be combined with any other European integration theory when conducting research. Also, this is the reason why with the emergence of Europeanisation there was no clear definition of what Europeanisation is. With the development of the framework, new definitions emerged reflecting the dominant thoughts during that period. Europeanisation remains a contested

concept up until today. It is a framework that describes the relations between the EU and the member states and assesses the level of transformation these relations foster. Most commonly used is the definition made by Radaelli who states that Europeanisation is a "process involving, construction, diffusion and institutionalization of formal and informal rules, procedures, ... 'ways of doing things' and shared beliefs and norms which are first defined and consolidated in the EU policy process and then incorporated in the logic of domestic ... discourse, political structures and public choices" (Radaelli, 2000, p. 4). Although the scholars did not agree on one single comprehensive definition of Europeanisation, they still have agreed on the key features that this concept represents. Firstly, Europeanisation can start from any stage of the policy cycle. Secondly, it includes not only tangible aspects that can be measured as results of implementation of certain policies, but also is framed through values and norms. Thirdly, in order to assess the influence of the EU policies on the member states, two steps have to be analyzed: the policy formulation at the European level and the extent of its implementation at the domestic level (Bulmer and Radaelli, 2013, p. 361).

The most recent works in this domain "favor a definition of Europeanization either as the domestic impact of the EU, and/or the domestic impact on the EU (Flockhart, 2010, p. 790). Therefore, this framework has two foundational approaches – the bottomup and top-down – arguing whether the EU or the members-states play the key role in European integration. As mentioned before, historically the research on Europeanisation at first concentrated mostly on the influences on the EU level and later shifted its focus on domestic changes. This, in turn, established the concepts of "uploading" and "downloading", when it comes to the interaction of domestic and EU policies. Downloading denotes implementation by the domestic actors of the policies that were developed and imposed by the EU. In this case, the lower is the degree of discrepancy between the existing and the offered policy, the lower are the costs for downloading. The least costly for the states would be the process of uploading, where the state "uploads" its policy to the European level. All the states strive to upload their policies to the EU level as it would minimize the adaptation costs for them. Nevertheless, this creates another problem as all the states have very different structures and following a policy beneficial for one state might not be the same for the other (Börzel, 2003, p. 20). In reality, this process constitutes a simultaneous interaction of the two levels in both directions.

1.2. Mechanisms of Europeanisation

It is also important to understand how exactly Europeanisation proceeds. In order to accomplish that, scholars have distinguished different typologies of the Europeanisation mechanisms. The classifications offered by various scholars differ, however, all of them have one thing in common. All of them agree on the fact that the Europeanisation mechanisms by their nature can be "hard", "soft" and that there is a range of mechanisms in between. The first type is associated with the demands of the EU to follow specific rules as, for instance, implementing the EU legislation. The soft mechanisms are related to indirect influences of the EU, where there is no request to meet certain requirements, however, the values of the actors are affected. This, in turn, frames their preferences and contributes to Europeanisation (Ladi, 2005, pp. 3-5). Other mechanisms include both the "hard" and "soft" elements that in combination influence the states.

The most comprehensive and most popular typology of the Europeanization mechanisms was offered by Knill and Lehmkuhl (Knill and Lehmkuhl, 1999). These scholars define the mechanisms based on different aspects of Europeanisation: institutions, opportunity structures and beliefs. The first mechanism, also labeled, the institutional model, describes Europeanisation that happens through prescription by the EU of a certain institution constellation for the state. The second mechanism is based on altering the domestic opportunity structures, which leads to redistribution of the power and resources. This way the EU does not offer a set of requirements to be met but simply excludes the opportunities for domestic actors that do not benefit the EU. Finally, the third mechanism functions through shaping the beliefs of the domestic actors. This mechanism does not have an immediate effect and affects the domestic developments in the long run (Knill and Lehmkuhl, 1999, pp. 2-3). Each of these mechanisms corresponds to three types of integration: positive, negative and framing. In the first type, the EU offers a positive model to follow, in the second the EU controls the environment of Europeanisation (i.e. the opportunity structures) and the third type happens through framing the preferences of the states (Knill and Lehmkuhl, 1999, pp. 1).

The less popular and comprehensive typologies were offered by Page and Schmidt. Page distinguishes three mechanisms of Europeanisation: coercion, imitation, adjustment and policy diffusion. The first one is considered the most "hard" one and

describes a process where the state is forced to follow the EU legislation. Imitation includes Europeanisation that happens without direct EU influence, where the states copy the best initiatives from other states. The difference between the last two mechanisms is not spelled out clearly and both of them refer to the EU framing the environment to guide the states' Europeanisation (Page, 2003, pp. 163-176). Schmidt came up with the following mechanisms: coercion at a high level, coercion at a less high level, mimesis, regulatory competition. The first two mechanisms can be seen as the classic "hard" mechanisms offered by other typologies. Mimesis allows the states to decide themselves whether they should follow the EU rules. Regulatory competition denotes a mechanism which does not include EU suggesting certain rules or institutional constellations, but a mechanism where the EU creates a competitive environment for the states which motivates them to change (Schmidt, 2002).

Three different mechanisms were distinguished based on the governance theory by Knill and Lenschow: coercion, competition and communication (Knill and Lenschow, 2005). Coercion is related to the states following the EU legislation, which also leads to the establishment of institutions based on EU standards. This mechanism can be classified as the classic "hard" mechanism of Europeanization. The second mechanism of competition presupposes fewer rules prescribed by the EU and more self-regulation initiated by the state. The main motivation for institutional transformation in the competition mechanism is the goal to achieve institutional efficiency demonstrated by other member states. This mechanism can be classified as a more "soft" one, where the state is not subject to harsh regulations but learns from other actors who achieved high results. Finally, communication excludes any rules imposed by the EU and is fully based on the learning process. It includes information exchange between the states and adoption of the best practices (Knill and Lenschow, 2005, pp. 583-587). Consequently, the three mechanisms offered by the scholars constitute a classification with a gradual mechanism type shift from the "hard" to combined and, finally, "soft".

The types of mechanisms largely depend on the policy sector, where they are applied. These mechanisms have built a system of conditionality that influences the neighboring countries, pre-accession states and also covers the post-accession period. For instance, the EU has developed an elaborate set of intertwined mechanisms, when it comes to accession. The first and the strongest mechanism is gate-keeping, which allows

the EU to influence the states by controlling their access to negotiations and further accession stages. Another mechanism includes setting certain benchmarks for the states to achieve and monitoring their success. These benchmarks are often related to adopting the EU legislation, which is also a separate mechanism. The EU offers a certain model for arranging the domestic institutions and the adoption of *acquis communautaire* is the central focus of any accession talks. One more mechanism is technical aid and financial assistance, that can be provided when the state meets the prescribed standards. Overall, providing advice to the country can be seen as a separate mechanism too. The latter can take place, for instance, in the form of twinning, where the EU officials from other countries are assigned to work for the structures of the state that requires aid. In this way, the state learns based on the examples of others' success (Grabbe, 2001, pp. 1020-1024).

The most recent attempt to summarize all the existing typologies was made by Bulmer and Radaelli (2013). These scholars distinguish three mechanisms, one vertical and two horizontal ones, based on the type of governance and policy, where they are applied. The vertical mechanism is associated with the positive integration, where the EU offers rules and templates for the states to "download". It is also related to market-correcting rules. The first horizontal mechanism is linked to negative integration, where the EU does not give any templates and offers market-making rules. The second horizontal mechanism is based on coordination and soft instruments as the Open Method of Coordination, soft law, policy exchange and communication (Bulmer and Radaelli, 2013, pp. 368). Although this classification is based on all of the previously mentioned works, the value of it when it comes specifically to defining mechanism types remains questionable. Essentially, distinguishing only between vertical and horizontal Europeanisation mechanisms, this classification is less useful than the primal typology by Knill and Lehmkuhl (1999), which fundamentally includes all the same domains but with better labels.

When the "hard" mechanisms boil down to EU legislation, the "soft" mechanisms show more diversity. The latter can also be divided into bottom-up and top-down mechanisms based on the logic of their functioning. The first strand includes voluntary learning, mimicking and the second is related to ideational and institutional diffusion, socialization, peer pressure (Tsakatika, 2012, p.680). Basically, learning and socialization can be classified as the same mechanism by its essence. These mechanisms

describe the same process with the only difference in the emphasis on the agency of the EU (socialization) or the agency of the states (learning). Overall socialization can be conceptualized as a process of "distribution of social rewards and punishments" that motivates the states to accept norms (Zürn and Checkel, 2007, p. 248). Another definition of socialization is "inducting actors into the norms and rules of a given community» with the aim of motivating the actors to internalize these norms and comply with them in the future (Checkel, 2005, p. 804).

Socialization can be divided into three sub-mechanisms: strategic calculation, role-playing, and normative suasion. Strategic calculation as a socialization mechanism is informed by the rationalist theory. According to this mechanism, the actors rationally calculate their actions and internalize the norms in order to get a certain benefit. Roleplaying presupposes actors acquiring certain roles prescribed by the environment. This process does not necessarily lead to full norm internalization but provides the actors guidance when it comes to their actions. If the previous mechanism is based on the passive acceptance of the given role, normative suasion finally means active internalization of the norms (Checkel, 2005, pp. 808-812). In sum, these three mechanisms demonstrate a gradual shift from the logic of consequences to the logic of appropriateness that drives the socialization process. A more sophisticated socialization mechanisms classification if provided by Hooghe. Taking into account Checkel's mechanisms and also adding some other ones she classifies them by the following principle. The first type of socialization is when the actor is engaged in it consciously, as in normative suasion. Another type is subconscious socialization as role playing or social mimicking. Other division is between instrumental socialization, for instance, shaming and non-instrumental – communication (Hooghe, 2005, p. 865). Each of the mechanisms has its own necessary factors to ensure successful Europeanization, which will be discussed in the next section.

1.3. Important factors and outcomes of Europeanisation

It is impossible to define one set of factors that have to be present to ensure successful Europeanisation. The logic for it is the following. Depending on the sphere of Europeanisation, different mechanisms are applied. Therefore, each mechanism has its own factors that affect the outcome of Europeanisation. If we take into account the core

mechanisms offered by Knill and Lehmkuhl, then for the institutional model the success of Europeanisation will be defined by the level of compatibility of domestic institutions with the imposed standards. The degree of adaptation for the mechanism altering the opportunities will be defined by the level of redistribution of power between the domestic actors. Finally, the third mechanism that functions through framing the beliefs depends on the degree of domestic support for these beliefs which is necessary to implement reforms (Knill and Lehmkuhl, 1999, pp. 4).

Completely different are the factors that influence the "soft" mechanisms of Europeanization. For instance, the socialization mechanism of *strategic calculation* is most efficient under the circumstances of conditionality. This includes the fact that the promised reward is higher than the costs of compliance. The duration and the intensity of the contact, previous exposure of the actors to policymaking are among important factors for the *role-playing* socialization. *Normative suasion* has several factors such as new circumstances for the actor which then motivate him to critically re-think the situation and absence of old beliefs that contradict the new norms. This mechanism functions best in international institutions which serve as a platform where the actors can talk and persuade one another (Checkel, 2005, pp. 808-812). Schimmelfennig, viewing socialization as a process of reinforcement distinguishes three components that ensure successful outcome: the availability of a reward to be given after conforming with the norms, the value of the reward exceeding the costs invested in changes, and presence of pro-western internal party constellation (Schimmelfennig, 2007, p. 31).

However, there is one crucial factor that is independent of the mechanism type. When looking at the broader picture, an important detail that defines the result of Europeanisation is the diffusion of the EU influence (Grabbe, 2001, p. 1025). The policy sectors and the countries on different stages of integration are exposed to different levels of the EU influence. For instance, when it comes to integration stages, after acquiring the membership there is no strong incentive left for the country to comply with the value demands imposed from the top as the EU loses its leverage in the form of membership perspective. The compliance of the states with the EU standards is monitored more closely and strictly, when it comes to the candidates and after the accession the control weakens (Sadurski, 2004, p. 66). The institutions of the EU due to their nature also have different tasks and functions. Supranational institutions as the European Commission or

the Court of Justice of the EU have more opportunities to pursue the EU interests as opposed to intergovernmental EU institutions.

The outcome of Europeanisation also depends on one more central principle of the theory, which is the "goodness of fit". This principle argues that the higher is the level of the misfit within the existing system, the more pressure there is on the member-state to comply with the EU standards. This leads to a conclusion that the adaptation pressure within the EU is also one of the crucial factors of successful Europeanisation. Commenting on this concept, Radaelli mentions that more research is required and that it has less explanatory power when it comes to horizontal Europeanization. He also states that the level of adaptation pressure, to which the "goodness of fit" is directly linked cannot be interpreted as the ultimate explanatory factor influencing the outcome of Europeanization. A more important role here play the institutional veto points, which are always taken into account regardless of the level of adaptation pressure (Radaelli, 2001, pp. 130-131). Adaptation pressure is valid in a limited amount of cases, where the EU prescribes a specific model of development (Knill, 2009b, p.14). This means that the "goodness of fit" is better applied to Europeanization through "hard" mechanisms which offer a specific set of rule, as opposed to "soft" mechanisms, which have a less structured influence

Europeanisation is also informed by other theories and their influence offers new factors to take into account. For instance, according to rational choice institutionalism, two crucial factors are domestic veto points and domestic institutions. Sociological institutionalism instead emphasizes the political culture of the state and the presence of leaders that would persuade the rest to change their beliefs. These two theories also correspond to two different logics of domestic change – logic of consequences and logic of appropriateness. Based on first, Europeanisation gives the actors different opportunity structures within which they pursue their interests. The logic of appropriateness works through persuasion and internalization of norms (Börzel and Risse, 2003, p.2). To sum up, Risse, Cowles, and Caporaso divided all the mediating factors into two groups – structure-related and agency-related factors (Graziano and Vink, 2013, p. 41). Veto points, mediating institutions and political culture are in the first group. The second group includes differential empowerment of actors and learning (Risse, Green Cowles and Caporaso, 2001).

As several factors for successful Europeanization have been listed, it is also useful to analyze the factors causing failure of Europeanization. From this point of view, the non-compliance of the member state with European standards can be intentional and unintentional. The intentional lack of compliance can have several motivations. These are disagreement of the state with the essence of the provision as it may be harmful to national interests, disagreement with the decision-making process on the EU and domestic level. The unintentional non-compliance can be related to misinterpretation of the provision, lack of administrative capacities or general political instability in the country (Falkner et al., 2005b, p.13). As most of the previously mentioned factors in this section focus on the EU level and mechanism type, the distinction between intentional and unintentional failure to comply draws the attention to the internal factors.

Several classifications have been invented regarding the assessment of the outcomes of Europeanisation. One of the frameworks offered by Börzel includes the following effects. The two outcomes linked to the lowest amount of change are *intertia* - absence of domestic changes and *retrenchment* - a phenomenon when the pressure from the EU only exacerbates the domestic situation. The highest level of Europeanisation is *transformation*, where the member state substantially changes existing policies on the demand of the EU. Between these levels are *absorption* and *accommodation*, which denote the member state accepting the EU policies but abstaining from major changes in the domestic system (Börzel, 2003b). A different classification for socialization outcomes is offered by Checkel. He divides them into two types: Type I and Type II internalization. The first type is related to adoption by the actor of a new role that does not necessarily lead to full norm internalization. Type II internalization includes changes in the values and interests of the actors at a deeper level (Checkel, 2005, pp. 808).

1.4. Mechanisms ensuring value compliance

The enforcement of the EU core values works through different mechanisms. Ensuring compliance with the values, on one hand, constitutes a formalized legal procedure. On the other hand, however, to a larger extent, it depends on the "soft" mechanisms as socialization which functions though framing actors' beliefs and values. Therefore, this policy domain has its own special characteristics. The compliance with the value demand cannot be measured immediately as there are no precise criteria and the

values are subject to interpretation. The compliance manifests itself through indirect factors as reforms and policies, therefore, the value shift cannot be detected rapidly. In addition, the EU is only authorized to take measures when observable implications of the illiberal attitudes become evident. Consequently, the more binding the EU policy is and the deeper it is rooted in specific demands embedded in the legislation, the higher is the adaptation pressure on the state that constitutes a "misfit" (Graziano and Vink, 2013, p. 46). Therefore, if the policy is not extensively regulated on the EU level, which is the case for the value compliance, the EU will be able to exert less pressure on the state.

Another perspective on the issue is that the success of Europeanisation largely depends on the level to which the offered EU policy corresponds to the interests of the domestic actors (Knill, 2009b, p.15). It is also supported by the conclusions of Radaelli (2001), who states that domestic veto points play a bigger role than the EU pressure, when it comes to defining the outcome of Europeanization. The controversial judicial reforms and other decisions of the government that are not in line with the EU values then can be explained with the fact that the existing EU standards hinder the opportunity of the domestic actors to consolidate their power. This means that the absence of a specific mechanism that would exert pressure on the member states to comply is not the crucial reason that leads to Europeanisation failure in the value domain. The interests of the domestic actors is also a decisive factor when defining the outcome of Europeanisation in the value domain.

Schimmelfennig's classification of factors defining the Europeanization outcome has a lot of explanatory power for the selected cases. As mentioned before, he distinguishes three crucial circumstances to ensure successful Europeanisation. The ultimate motivator is the offered membership in the EU. For the cases studied in the empirical part, this factor is no longer valid. Intergovernmental interaction is also important in the reinforcement of values. However, in the circumstances where the violating state is not the only outlier and other states demonstrate illiberal sentiments too, it is problematic to put enough pressure on the infringer. The third previously mentioned element of reward costs exceeding the adaptation costs is also weak for the selected states. Adaptation costs for the governments in the violating countries are rather high as implementation of the reforms based on liberal principles would hinder power consolidation. This conclusion leads to the final element which is the party constellation

in the country. If the country is governed by authoritarian political forces, the liberal socialization is doomed to fail (Schimmelfennig, 2007, p. 31). Based on these factors, the EU can no longer rely on positive socialization as a mechanism ensuring compliance with the liberal values. Instead of only offering positive incentives, EU now has to stick to coercive enforcement of norms. In order for it to be efficient, the punishment for the state has to be costlier than adaptation (Schimmelfennig, 2007, p. 35).

1.5. Summary and theoretical expectations

In sum, the discussion of the extent and mechanisms of Europeanization leads to the following theoretical expectations for this thesis. Firstly, due to the fact that the level of the EU's supranational control varies depending on the policy domain, the control mechanisms of the EU when it comes to values are not efficient. This is linked to the fact that it is not possible to define what constitutes a value breach due to the blurred nature of values. The second expectation addresses the dynamics of Europeanisation. The expectation in this regard is that the new mechanisms ensuring compliance with values develop as a response to the new challenges. This leads to another theoretical expectation that, taking into account the current state of affairs, the mechanisms ensuring compliance with the values have developed, however, their efficiency parameters remain low due to the specifics of this policy sphere. This fact is exacerbated with another expectation which states that if the domestic actors do not support the EU policy imposed, it is harder for the EU to impose its standards in the given domain.

Chapter 2. The EU's toolbox for ensuring compliance with values

This chapter will review the instruments the EU has invented in order to ensure compliance with the EU values. Firstly, the nature and the sources of the EU values will be assessed. Next, the mechanisms available to ensure compliance with the EU values will be examined. Special attention will be devoted to the mechanisms related to the cases when the state does not follow the demands of the EU and violates European values during transformations. The assessment of the instruments will proceed from the general measures to more specialized ones. Such tools as infringement proceedings, Article 7 procedure, Rule of Law Framework, Cooperation and Verification Mechanism, etc. will be reviewed. The role of the institutions when utilizing these mechanisms will be assessed. Finally, some newly proposed mechanisms will be examined.

2.1. Fundamental values of the EU

The values that lie at the heart of the EU are listed in Article 2 of the Treaty on European Union. Among them are: "respect for human dignity, freedom, democracy, equality, the rule of law and respect for human rights, including the rights of persons belonging to minorities...pluralism, non-discrimination, tolerance, justice, solidarity and equality between women and men" (Eur-Lex, 2012a). The Article 2 is also called the "homogeneity clause" (Besselink, 2017, p. 129) as these values, stemming from the member states' constitutions also create a supranational principle that forms the identity of the EU. This identity then becomes reinforced by years of integration. This clause prescribes the behavior for the member states that have to be guided by these values (Mangiameli, 2013, p. 142).

The EU is often labelled as the community of values. When discussed more in detail, the values cover the following aspects. Human dignity lies in the basis of the fundamental rights of the individual within the EU. The freedom value includes a whole set of freedoms as the free movement of citizens, freedom of speech, religion, assembly, etc. Democracy provides the EU citizens with political rights as to stand as a candidate and to vote during the elections. Equality initially stems from the economic rights as equal pay for the same work done, and includes the equality of all citizens before law in all domains. The rule of law in the EU is embedded in the legal basis of the EU and is ensured

by the independent judiciary and the CJEU as the highest court in the EU (European Union, 2020). The EU has been awarded the Nobel Peace prize in 2012 for contributing "to the advancement of peace and reconciliation, democracy and human rights in Europe" (Nobel Media, 2020).

Nevertheless, the values listed in Article 2 remain open-ended, which means that in order to enforce them they first have to transposed into norms (Mader, 2019, p. 159). When it comes to investigating the specific value breach, the EU has to set the exact criteria and components. For instance, the rule of law value, according to the Venice Commission, includes: legality (transparent process for enacting law); legal certainty; prohibition of arbitrariness; access to justice before independent and impartial courts; respect for human rights; non-discrimination and equality before the law (Venice Commission, 2016, p. 7). However, due to the nature of values, the legislation still lacks a precise definition of their components. The legal basis and the mechanisms ensuring the values develop as a response to the challenges threatening them.

The legal basis that identifies the EU values started evolving relatively recently. The first time when the demanded values were explicitly listed was reflected in the Copenhagen criteria in 1993. These criteria constitute an attempt to externalize them to the candidate members (Klamert and Kochenov, 2019, p. 3). The Copenhagen criteria include the stability of institutions that would guarantee values as the rule of law, democracy and human rights; functioning market economy and ability to implement the EU law (Eur-Lex, 2020). The EU values were later codified in the European Charter of Fundamental Rights in 2003 (Mader, 2019, p. 133). The emergence of this document was the first attempt to summarize all the rights of the individual that evolved throughout decades within the EU. In particular, it includes "personal, civic, political, economic and social rights" (European Commission, 2020c). At first, the status of the Charter was not clear and became legally binding only in December 2009 when the Treaty of Lisbon entered into force (European Commission, 2020c). Consequently, today the EU values are codified in two documents, the Treaty of Lisbon and the European Charter of Fundamental Rights.

As evident from the above, the EU values are to some extent paradoxical. On one hand, they lie at the heart of the European Union and form the basis of all structures and decisions made. On the other hand, they still lack precise definition which, in turn, constitutes a problem when building mechanisms ensuring value compliance. The blurred nature of the values complicates the process of detecting and declaring the value breach. The next sections will investigate how the EU copes with this challenge.

2.2. Infringement proceedings

The first and most general measure is the infringement procedure, initiated by the Commission in case of any breach of the EU law. This tool is regulated by Articles 258-260 TFEU. The mechanism includes several stages of dialogue between the EU and the member state. It can be divided into two stages: pre-litigation and litigation phase (European Commission, 2019g). Firstly, within the pre-litigation stage, the Commission sends the member state a letter of formal notice in case an EU law violation is detected. Next, in case the violation continues, the Commission issues a reasoned opinion explaining why it believes the member state is breaching the law and asking the state to change the situation. If this step proves itself to be inefficient, the litigation phase begins. This final step is the referral of the case to the Court of Justice of the EU, which then makes a judgment and imposes penalties. This process can be stopped at any stage under the condition that the state provides a sufficient detailed response to the Commission. Most cases are solved before referring them to the CJEU (European Commission, 2020a).

When it comes to EU Law breaches in general, this tool is applied in most cases. There are four cases when the infringement proceeding can be initiated: when the state fails to notify the Commission regarding the transposition of the directive; when the Commission determines that the state's legislation does not conform with the EU directive, or with the EU Treaties; when EU law is applied incorrectly by the state (European Commission, 2019g). The Commission provides annual statistical reports on infringement proceedings in all of the policy domains. According to the latest available report, the total amount of pending infringement procedures launched by the Commission in 2018 was 644, which is 10% less than in 2017. This constitutes 23 procedures per member state when calculated on average. The amount of total open infringement proceedings by December 2018 reaches 1571 cases. The top policy domains concerned include environment (298), mobility and transport (244), internal market (172), justice and consumers (160) (European Commission, 2019f).

According to the Single Market Scoreboard, which monitors the infringement proceedings in relation to single market rules violations, the infringement procedures take a lot of time. The average duration excluding the stage where the case is sent to CJEU is 38.1 months. The average amount of time that passes before the states finally comply with the CJEU ruling in 2018 was 28.2 months, which almost doubles that overall infringement proceeding time (European Commission, 2018a). This deficiency of the mechanism is alleviated by the opportunity of requesting an interim measure from the CJEU, according to Article 279 TFEU. This measure can be requested if the matter is urgent and irreversible damage can be done if no measures are taken immediately (Koops, 2014, p. 109).

To understand the extent of efficiency of this mechanism, it is important to examine the outcomes and penalties. From the number of stages embedded in this mechanism, it is evident that the Commission expects for the issue to be resolved during the dialogue with the state. However, when it is not possible, the incompliance with the EU law is examined by the CJEU under Article 258 TFEU. It is worth noting that the final ruling of the CJEU is merely of declaratory character. The Court declares whether the state's actions or its legislation are compatible with the EU law and announces that the state has to take measures to comply with the ruling. The CJEU does not have the power to declare the member state's legislation invalid (Koops, 2014, p. 108). If the state ignores this, then under the Article 260 TFEU the Commission refers the case to the Court for the second time, where the CJEU then imposes a fine in form of a lump sum and a daily penalty which are previously calculated by the Commission (European Commission, 2019g, p. 10). The amount of the fine depends on the case. In 2018 the CJEU imposed fines under Article 260(2) TFEU on 4 states: Greece, Spain, Italy, Slovakia (European Commission, 2019f). For instance, for Greece the CJEU has ordered to pay the lump sum in the amount of 5 million EUR and a penalty of 3,276 million EUR for each six month period of transposition delay (CURIA, 2018a). Spain was ordered to pay a 12 million EUR lump sum and 10,95 million penalty for every six months of delay (CURIA, 2018b).

Nevertheless, the scholars have not reached an agreement on whether this tool can be interpreted as the ultimate instrument to ensure compliance with values. Some say that it is useful to ensure value compliance in three cases. These are when the obligations

of the states to comply with the values are explicitly spelled out in the Treaties, secondary legislation or in the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights (De Schutter, 2017, p. 27). Therefore, this instrument can only be applied to clear and concise EU law provisions that were not adopted by the state. Due to this fact, other scholars emphasize that the phenomenon of values remains vague and the illiberal reforms undertaken by the governments do not always fall under the scope of EU competences (Pech and Scheppele, 2017, p. 13). There is no single clear legal EU provision that is disrespected by the state during illiberal domestic reforms, therefore, in order to use the infringement proceedings, the Commission has to act indirectly without actually addressing the problem of the rule of law value breach. From the perspective of the infringement proceedings, the breach of rule of law value can be conceptualized through violation of certain directives. In addition, the outcome of the infringement procedure in the form of stating the EU law breach and potentially imposing financial sanctions does not really deal with the issue of ensuring compliance (Mader, 2019, p. 160). Several infringement proceedings were launched against Poland and Hungary, which will be addressed in the empirical part.

2.3. Article 7 procedure

Due to the fact that the infringement procedures are linked to breaches of hard law and the nature of EU values is rather blurred, the EU has also invented other mechanisms that regulate particularly the cases of value breach. The most mentioned in the public debate and media mechanism is the so-called Article 7 procedure. The debate regarding this Article intensified every time a member state was accused of EU value breach since the very invention of this Article. The victory of the far-right Freedom Party in Austria in 1999, developments in Hungary since the victory of Fidesz in 2010, Roma expulsion in France in 2012, political crisis in Romania in 2012, and several other cases were considered as possible candidates for the Article 7 procedure activation (Budó, 2014, pp. 3-6). Nevertheless, Article 7 was invoked only twice against Poland and Hungary. These cases will be discussed in the empirical part. Since then this Article has been labelled as the "nuclear option" of the EU (Cuddy, 2018). This catchy label will be re-assessed as it is important to understand what actually lies behind it: how this article was invented and what is the exact mechanism of its influence.

Article 7 TEU spells out the complicated mechanism that has to be applied in the case of breach of EU values. To, date, the essence of the Article 7 is the following. This article consists of two logical parts: the preventive and the sanctioning mechanism. The preventive measures are mentioned in the Article 7(1) and basically denote the Council of the EU declaring that a "clear risk of a serious breach" has taken place (Eur-Lex, 2012b). The Council has to vote with the majority of four fifths and the overall process can be initiated by the Commission, the European Parliament or one third of member states. The European Parliament also has to give its consent (Eur-Lex, 2012b). Triggering Article 7(1) does not really have any properties of the "nuclear option" as this tool has been named in the media. This measure is only of declaratory nature and does not entail any punishment for the violator.

The next, more serious step is described in the second and third paragraphs, which include the actual sanctioning mechanism. This measure is supposed to be taken in case the previous warning does not have any effect. For the sanctioning mechanism to be activated, the European Council has to unanimously declare the "existence of a serious and persistent breach" of values (Eur-Lex, 2012b). This step can be initiated by the same actors and consent of the European Parliament is required. Finally, according to Article 7(3), the Council of the EU acting by qualified majority voting has the right to "suspend certain of the rights deriving from the application of the Treaties" for the member state in question (Eur-Lex, 2012b). The preventive and the sanctioning mechanism do not depend on one another. This means that they can be applied separately and activation of Article 7(1) is not required to trigger Article 7(2) (European Commission, 2003, p.4).

The instrument described in Article 7 is a relatively recent invention. It was not present in the early treaties on the EU and was included only in the Amsterdam Treaty in 1997, which came into force in 1999. This means that for almost half a century the European project had existed without this measure. The decision to add such an article was made in anticipation of the Enlargement, which happened in 2004 and marked an essential change in the nature of the Union (Kochenov, Pech and Scheppele, 2017). It demonstrates that the existing EU members had a certain level of mistrust to the candidate countries with their different political traditions and the history of being under the oppression of the communist regime. Such background was very different from the

history of the founding countries which were concerned with the fact that the newcomers might not share the Western values (Sadurski, 2010, p. 35).

The initial version of the Article covered only the sanctioning mechanism, which constitutes the second part of Article 7 today. However, when in 1999 Austria was accused of breaching the EU values, the EU had realized that invoking this measure immediately is a radical decision. Therefore, later in the Nice Treaty that was signed in 2001 and came into force in 2003, the preventive measures were added to the Article 7, in order to complement the existing tool and make it more applicable within the EU framework (Kochenov, Pech and Scheppele, 2017).

The Article 7 has several strengths. The key beneficial element is its scope. This tool is superior to infringement proceedings and any other instruments as the Commission has emphasized that Article 7 "is not confined to areas covered by Union law", when it comes to its application (European Commission, 2003, p.5). This means that in case value breach or risk of value breach is detected, there is no need to link it indirectly to breach of specific legal provisions, as what is done during the infringement proceedings. Also, Article 7(1) includes a large number of actors who have the right to invoke it, which makes the initiation of the procedure more feasible (Kochenov, 2019, p. 16). Article 7 was introduced and improved as a natural response to the developments in the EU and therefore, constitutes a mechanism with several logical stages and involving different actors aiming to address the serious and persistent value breach of any degree. Nevertheless, despite the fact that Article 7 constitutes a very intricate mechanism in theory, its application in practice remains troublesome.

When it comes to the application of this mechanism to real life situations, its flaws in its wording and the overall design become evident. The Article 7 specifies that sanctioning can only take place in case the breach is *serious* and *persistent*. Nevertheless, what exactly is meant under these conditions is not clarified. These parameters are not set and are dependent on the interpretation (Besselink, 2017, p. 132). Also, the Article does not provide a detailed description of the possible sanctions. Paragraph 3 offers an example of punishment in the form of suspending voting rights of the state but it does not limit the possible options to it. Due to this reason, the provision remains vague as is does not provide a list of specific measures to be taken in case of a value breach (Kochenov, 2017, p. 10). In addition, from the perspective of design efficiency, the fact that in order to

trigger the sanctioning mechanism unanimity in the European Council is required, constitutes a weak point as like-minded law-breaking member states might team up and block the decision. Therefore, re-examination of the voting procedure shall be considered (Kochenov, Pech and Scheppele, 2017). Finally, the mechanism described in the Article 7 is to a great extent procedural. The values described in the Article 2 are diverse and relate to different domains, however, the offered mechanism ensuring the compliance with them is uniform. The reality shows, that a more tailored approach is required, which is why the following mechanism was invented.

2.4. Rule of Law Framework

The Rule of Law Framework was adopted by the Commission in 2014 and was utilized only once in 2016 in relation to Poland. This Framework constitutes a mechanism that is supposed to postpone the Article 7 procedures and establish a dialogue with a member state, where the erosion of the rule of law value is detected. This mechanism, as opposed to the previous one, is value-specific as it regulates the breach of rule of law. The Commission has labelled it an "early warning tool" (European Commission, 2014) which is aimed at preventing the escalation of the systematic threats to the rule of law (Kochenov and Pech, 2016, p. 1066). This framework was created to deal with systematic disregard of EU values as opposed to individual violations, where the Commission serves as the Guardian of EU values and can rely on assistance of other institutions as the European Parliament, Council, etc. (European Commission, 2014). The need to create this framework was highlighted by European Commission President José Manuel Barroso in his State of the Union speeches in 2012 and 2013, where he declared that there is a need in a "bridge between political persuasion and targeted infringement procedures" and "the nuclear option of Article 7 of the Treaty" (Barroso, 2013).

The Rule of Law Framework includes the following steps. First, the Commission evaluates the situation and issues a "rule of law opinion" signaling the state that it has detected the persistent threat to the rule of law. Next, Commission issues a "rule of law recommendation" which already includes the deadline for the state to improve the situation. Finally, the Commission monitors the following actions of the state in the rule of law domain and in case of dissatisfaction, it resorts to Article 7. This mechanism can be stopped at any stage in case the state makes the necessary amendments. Also, it is

based on active dialogue between the state concerned and the Commission throughout all of the phases (European Commission, 2014). The Rule of Law Framework by its essence copies some stages from the general infringement procedure and applies them specifically in the rule of law domain. Nevertheless, it does not have the efficient sanctioning element as in the infringement and excludes the Court of Justice of EU from the process.

The disadvantage of this Framework lies in the fact that is it based on the premise that the member state is willing to cooperate (Pech and Scheppele, 2017, p. 7). This framework relies on the discursive approach, non-legally binding opinions and recommendations. Moreover, failure to comply with the documents issued by the Commission does not automatically invoke the Article 7 process. This creates a situation where the cost of the punishment for the states who do not comply is minimal from the legal perspective (Kochenov and Pech, 2016, p. 1067). Therefore, there is a risk that it might only lead to protracted negotiations without any quality changes in the domain of the state's value compliance. Consequently, this instrument does not have any deficiencies in its structure. The problem is only in the context where it is applied and whether a "soft" instrument as the Rule of Law Framework is efficient enough or "hard" instruments should be utilized.

2.5. Other mechanisms

The previously mentioned mechanisms are tailored specifically for the cases of the rule of law value breach. However, the EU also has several other mechanisms that are mostly of preventive nature and function based on peer-pressure and naming and shaming. Even though the main function of these mechanisms is different, they still are an important influence in the context where the values have been breached. Although functioning indirectly, together they form a basis that stimulates the states to reinforce the EU values. Among them are the Cooperation and Verification mechanism, Justice Scoreboard, European Semester and Structural Reform Support Programme.

First of the mentioned frameworks is country-specific and was created specifically to help the two states who have recently joined the EU to correspond its standards. The Cooperation and Verification Mechanism and was established in 2007 to assist with reforms in Romania and Bulgaria after they have joined the Union. This tool sets certain benchmarks for the judicial system, fighting the issues of corruption and

organized crime (European Commission, 2019a). Scholars have been debating whether this mechanism is helpful when motivating the states to perform liberal reforms independently in the long run (Toneva-Metodieva, 2014, p. 537). In 2017 the Commission issued a report on the progress of Romania and Bulgaria under the CVM. It stated that even though the standards set were not fully achieved, the countries still demonstrated some progress (European Commission, 2019b). Consequently, despite the fact that the efficiency parameters of CVM are moderate, it still remains an important mechanism in the domain of post-accession conditionality for the states.

The next tool offers an assessment of all member states in the judicial sphere. The EU Justice Scoreboard was introduced in 2013 and since then yearly provides information on judicial systems of the member states, including the assessment of the reforms and efficiency of the justice system (European Commission, 2019a). It is intertwined with other instruments as its data is incorporated into the European Semester. The Justice Scoreboard is aimed at monitoring compliance with the rule of law and guiding the investments (Wahl, 2019). What makes it different from a regular annual report and turns the Justice Scoreboard into a real "soft" mechanism of influence is its format. As opposed to a compilation of different indexes, the Scoreboard is prepared in the form of a comparison between the states which highlights the best practices and sets the standards for other states through showing that their success is feasible. Before the creation of the Justice Scoreboard, the Commission was mostly only engaged in the cases of non-compliance of the states with the EU standards for the judicial system. When the Scoreboard was created, based solely on peer pressure and the information voluntarily provided by the states, it became an influence tool for the EU rooted in positive precedents (Strelkov, 2018, p. 15).

The final two tools are related to monitoring structural reforms in the states. The Structural Reform Support Programme launched in 2017 assists the member states with their reforms on their demand in all sectors, including the ones in the domain of rule of law. This tool covers all phases of reform from its preparation to implementation and is based on the knowledge retrieved from the Commission, experience of the member states and international organizations (European Commission, 2020b). Another mechanism European Semester was established in 2011 and has the primary goal of helping the country with its economic policies and in order to assist provides an evaluation of

structural reforms including the justice system, corruption, etc. (European Commission, 2019a). The creation of it was triggered by the 2007 economic crisis which demonstrated that the states did not perform best quality decision making in the economic sector. The European Semester constitutes a cycle that runs through the year and has several stages. First the Commission sets economic priorities in the Annual Growth Survey, which are later endorsed by the European Council. After that the member states submit their financial and economic plans. Finally, the Commission issues country-specific recommendations which later have to be implemented (Rasmussen, 2018, p. 343).

2.6. Institutions involved

The nature of the institutions engaged in the tackling of the value breach problem also plays an important role. The violation of the rule of law is monitored by the EU and non-EU institutions that promote democratic values. The existing EU mechanism heavily relies on the Commission, which is of supranational nature. The Commission monitors the compliance with values in the states, launches both the different mechanisms to ensure the value compliance and the infringement procedures once breaches are detected. Another supranational institution is the European Parliament which can draft reasoned proposals, vote on resolutions and give its consent to triggering of procedures as the Article 7. These two institutions are not governed by the national interests and have the opportunity to promote the measures that would not be favored in an intergovernmental format. However, the EU is based on the principle of conferral, which means that it only has the rights to act in the domains where the member states give their agreement for it to act. Under these circumstances, even though the Commission can raise certain unfavorable for the national governments topics, it does not have the opportunity to take radical measures as it is dependent on the approval of other institutions.

Such veto points in the system are intergovernmental Council of the EU and the European Council. Involvement of these institutions is crucial, when it comes to punitive measures in relation to value breach. At the same time the decision-making in these institutions is of more sensitive nature, as the representatives of the states have to confront each other to take the necessary measures. This fact, for instance, hinders the triggering of the sanctioning mechanism offered in Article 7 as unanimity of the European Council is required.

Remarkably, the Court of Justice of the EU is hardly involved in the regulation of value breach at all. The CJEU only takes part in the final stage of the infringement proceedings or assists with EU law interpretation. Such a role for this institution does not provide it an opportunity to offer a solution when the member state is demonstrating a systematic breach of European values. The exclusion of the CJEU from frameworks ensuring value compliance serves as a drawback as it has a reputation of an institution that contributes to the development of the EU by setting precedents through its rulings.

It is worth to mention other important institutions that function outside of the EU framework. The European Commission for Democracy through Law, knows as the Venice Commission is a Council of Europe's body specializing offering legal advice to its member states in order to ensure the functioning of domestic structures based on liberal values (Council of Europe, 2018). In January 2020 the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE) held a vote to bring Poland under the monitoring mechanism of the Council of Europe. Within the framework of this procedure it will assess Poland's compliance with the human rights standards (Dam, 2020). The United Nations and OSCE also monitor situation with regards to rule of law in the states and issue their recommendation

2.7. New mechanisms proposed

Most of the mechanisms mentioned in this chapter were established less than two decades ago and new mechanisms still keep emerging. The value crisis in some of the member states is becoming a serious issue, therefore, the scholars and policy-makers are coming up with different solutions. Some of them are related to improvement of the existing mechanisms and some of them introduce completely new ones. These instruments are linked to increasing the political pressure on the violating member states and emphasizing the multi-speed integration in the long run, which would limit the access to the benefits of integration for the states that do not develop based on EU values (Kochenov, 2019, p. 24).

The broadest and most systematic approach was outlined by the European Commission. In 2019 the Commission had conducted a comprehensive review of the existing mechanisms and offered changes in the following three domains: promoting the rule of law value, preventing the value breach and in case it happens addressing the issue

promptly. In the first domain the Commission plans to rely on the support of the civil society, other EU institutions and other international organizations as the Council of Europe. In the sphere of preventing the rule of law breach, the Commission has offered to set a Rule of Law Review Cycle within the framework of which an annual report on ever state will be compiled. In last domain of handling the cases of value breach, however, Commission did not offer any new instruments and only emphasized the systematic launch of infringements procedures and cooperation of the EU institutions under Article 7 procedure (European Commission, 2019c).

The European Parliament has offered another mechanism "on democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights" that would monitor the compliance with the EU values and annually issue reports with recommendations (European Parliament, 2020a). This tool is advantageous as it draws attention on the community to the value breach issue. Nevertheless, the existing tools based on peer-pressure have not demonstrated and effect, when it comes to serious value breach in member states. From this point of view, the mechanism offered by the EP would only replicate the existing tools and would not offer a fundamentally new approach to the issue.

Managing the finances based on the rule law compliance remains a hot topic. The EU officials have offered to revise the Multiannual Financial Framework. The Commission issued a proposal in 2018 regarding using the EU budget as tool "in case of generalized deficiencies as regards the rule of law in the Member States" (European Parliament, 2019). According to the proposal, once such deficiencies are detected, the Commission has the right to initiate the procedure. First, it consults the member state and in case does not receive an appropriate response, the Commission sends a proposal to the Council. The Council, in turn, holding a qualified majority vote approves, rejects or amends the proposal (European Commission, 2018b). This mechanism would have two functions. Firstly, it would constitute a punishment for the government implementing reforms not in line with the EU values. Secondly, at the same time it would serve as a security measure for the EU itself, protecting its financial interests (Bachmaier, 2019).

Solutions offered by the scholars range from fundamental legal basis revision to specific amendments of the existing procedures. For instance, Treaty revision is offered in relation to the Article 7(2). In particular, cancelling the unanimity requirement to trigger the sanctioning mechanism would be a powerful improvement (Šelih, Bond and

Dolan, 2017). However, adjusting the existing legal basis is very unlikely and the democratic backsliding in some member states requires immediate reaction. Less radical but also heated is the debate on the type of sanctions that can be introduced under the Article 7(3). For instance, imposing financial sanctions on the violating state remains a heavily discussed but unlikely option. Introduction of such sanctions will go against the logic of integration and put under risk the cohesion of the states (Bachmaier, 2019). A different approach regarding the infringement proceedings is offered by Scheppele, who as opposed to initiating the infringement proceedings on the case-by-case basis, introduced the concept of systemic infringement proceedings. Interpreting the infringements as a systematic phenomenon and handling it as one case would offer a consistent approach (Mader, 2019, p. 159).

Chapter 3. EU handling of value breaches by member states: case studies

This chapter will concentrate on the analysis of EU's responses to the illiberal developments in Austria, Poland and Hungary. First, the research design, methods and data will be outlined. The case selection will be justified. Next, the timeline of the events, key illiberal developments and measures taken by the EU in return will be examined for each of the states. For this, process-tracing will be applied. Based on the analysis, conclusions regarding the EU's approach to value breach are made. The efficiency and consistency of the application of the existing tools are evaluated. Finally, potential solutions will be discussed.

3.1 Research design, methods and data

The empirical section of this thesis examines states which were accused of breach of the EU values: Austria (1999-2000), Poland (2015-2020) and Hungary (2010-2020). There have also been other cases where the question of breaching the EU values by member states has been raised, however, these cases were chosen as only in relation to them actual measures were taken. Despite the fact that the actual breach of the EU values was detected only in the two latter states, it is important to analyze all of the three cases together in order to grasp how the EU mechanisms evolved. The first case concerns Austria during 1999-2000, when the Freedom Party got the second place in the parliamentary elections and was subsequently included in the government. Then the EU member states took preventive measures even before the breach occurred. The measures were outside of the framework prescribed by the existing legal basis. This was the first case when the EU discussed the activation of existing tools as the Article 7 and this case stimulated the development of mechanisms to tackle it in the future. Eventually, the measures taken were recognized as unnecessary. The questions why the existing mechanisms were not applied and why other measures were taken instead even in the absence of value breach will be answered. Next, the cases of Poland and Hungary are selected as they were the first countries, against which the Article 7(1) procedure was invoked and where the risk of persistent value breach was declared. The former case is related to EU handling the Law and Justice judicial reforms Poland during 2016-2020.

Finally, the EU's response to the Fidesz led reforms in Hungary during 2012-2020 is analyzed.

In all of these cases the reaction of the EU to the illiberal domestic developments will be assessed. In order to accomplish this, the process-tracing method (Beach and Pedersen, 2013) will be applied. There are several types of process-tracing and this paper will resort to case-centric process-tracing with the aims to explain the logic of the EU measures taken in reaction to illiberal reforms breaching the EU values. As there is no set mechanism ensuring compliance with the EU values, this paper will apply the inductive path when building it. This means that the empirical material is used to build an explanatory mechanism (Beach & Pedersen, 2013, p. 20). The qualitative type of research and in particular process tracing, presuppose an iterative process which means that a clear division between steps is impossible and the explanatory mechanism will be constantly updated until it acquires sufficient explanatory power (Beach & Pedersen, 2013, p. 21). This method does not help establish any generalizability or provide conclusions that can be extrapolated to explain other cases. The value of this method is in tracing the event sequence within the specific cases that would serve as an answer to why the developments are taking place in a particular way.

It is important to establish the preliminary steps to be taken regardless of their blurred nature. The first step of process-tracing includes establishing a timeline of the events that took place. This requires linking the decisions and actions of the EU regarding the reforms in the member state, in order to explain the reason why the EU was not able to ensure the compliance and take any further measures against the violator within its institutional and legal parameters. The following step of process tracing is to identify the key decisions in the interaction of the EU and the member state. These junctures will be analyzed with regard to the following questions: what are the implications of the action that took place? What were other possible measures for the EU to take and what is the reasoning behind ruling out other approaches? What is the role of the institutions in this process? The examination of cases demands the "soaking and poking" approach, where at first all the available information is gathered and all possible explanations are summarized (Bennett and Checkel, 2014, p. 18). The research design is deliberately framed not as a comparative case study because such format only focuses on a limited set of variables and ignores other potentially significant factors.

In terms of the data sources, the legal basis of the EU will be analyzed. This includes the treaty provisions regarding the compliance ensuring mechanisms, secondary legislation issued by the EU institutions, court rulings, etc. Also, the debates within the EU institutions, press releases of the EU institutions and secondary analysis of the developments will be taken into account. The document selection will be guided by purposive sampling with the final goal of reaching the data saturation point. The process chain of the events will determine the source selection.

3.2 Austria (1999-2000)

3.2.1 Developments in Austria

The case of Austria served as the first trigger for the EU to start the enhancement of the mechanism ensuring value compliance. This case is paradoxical as eventually, the experts detected that no EU values were breached, however, the developments in Austria triggered a strong reaction from the EU. The event that provoked it were the parliamentary elections in Austria in 1999. Then the far-right Freedom Party (Freiheitliche Partei Österreichs, FPÖ) was placed second winning 27% of vote and was included in the government (BBC News, 2020). The EU reacted rapidly in an attempt to prevent the inclusion of the Freedom Party in the government but failed, which will be discussed in the next section.

The ideology of the party and the controversial personality of the party chairman Jörg Haider constituted a major concern for the EU. Haider was known by his provocative anti-immigrant and anti-Semitic comments, remarks praising the Waffen-SS members (Freeman, 2002, pp. 115-116). For instance, he characterized the Waffen-SS members, an organization which was declared criminal at the Nuremberg Tribunals, as "decent individuals with character who stick to their beliefs despite strong opposition and remain true to them today" (Wodak and Pelinka, 2002, p. 8). Many of the FPÖ members were also former members of the Nazi party and agreed with Haider's expressions. There are numerous quotes of the leading functionaries supporting Haider in downplaying the crimes of Nazism. Reinhard Gaugg who belongs to FPÖ made a dubious statement by defining NAZI as "new, attractive, single-minded and ingenious" (Wodak and Pelinka, 2002, p. 8).

Even though Haider and the Freedom Party were condemned for such statements, they were able to regain the support in Austria and even when being included in the government maintained their sentiments. The victory of FPÖ was possible due to the political environment in Austria at that time. The two big parties SPÖ (Social Democratic Party) and ÖVP (Austrian People's Party) had dominated the political space in Austria for more than forty years and the voters demanded changes (Freeman, 2002, pp. 116). When the Freedom Party came to power, despite no value breach in the state occurred, it was still condemned by the international community and the EU. The FPÖ was criticized for utilizing libel cases to silence the opposition and making ambiguous statements that can be interpreted as xenophobic or racist (Fiddler, 2019, p. 14).

Despite the alarming rhetoric of the Freedom Party, Austria did not ignore the concerns of the European community. Jörg Haider together with Wolfgang Schüssel with whom he formed the coalition government signed a declaration on the demand of the Austrian president Thomas Kletsil. In this declaration, they reaffirmed that they are willing to support the EU values, including human rights and non-discrimination (Freeman, 2002, pp. 119). After the EU had imposed sanctions, a statement was also made by the Minister of foreign affairs Benita Ferrero-Waldner who confirmed the words of the politicians and highlighted that European values are embedded in the Austrian Constitution and legislation. In addition, as it will be discussed in the following section, no illiberal reforms were eventually implemented. Therefore, no breach of EU values occurred. The only reason why the EU had reacted was the personality of Jörg Haider but not actual developments. Eventually, Haider resigned on 28 February as the party leader.

3.2.2. EU's response

The fact that the Freedom Party joined the government alarmed the EU member states and they imposed bilateral sanctions on Austria (Scheppele and Pech, 2018). On 31 January 2000, the Portuguese Council Presidency made a statement on behalf of the 14 member states that they will impose sanctions if the Freedom Party is in the government. This statement mentioned that the EU member states will not cooperate with Austrian government integrating the Freedom Party on the official bilateral level and will not support Austrian candidates applying for any positions within its structures, including accepting Austrian ambassadors only at the technical level (Merlingen, Mudde and

Sedelmeier, 2001, p. 60). The fact that one of the key EU principles of non-discrimination based on nationality was questioned shows that the EU was ready to take decisive measures (Falkner, 2001). In addition, the European Parliament adopted a resolution where it condemned the statements Haider had made in the past emphasizing that they do not align with the EU values (Freeman, 2002, pp. 119). On 4 February the Austrian government was formed disregarding the statements of the EU. As a reaction to this, the EU imposed diplomatic sanctions during February-March 2000 (BBC News, 2020).

Apart from the refusal to cooperate with the Austrian government and ban of the Austrian officials, the sanctions of the member states also included «boycotts of school trips, cultural exchanges, and military exercises» (Freeman, 2002, p. 120). Such measures do not really address the reason of the sanctions. Hence, they were interpreted as measures against the population of Austria and not its government. This state of affairs allowed Austria to pose itself as a victim of the European aggressive measures and use this status for benefits in its internal and external policies (Lachmayer, 2017, p. 443). The sanctions of the 14 member states imposed on Austria did not have any legal basis and also were an unprecedented phenomenon. They were imposed before the systematic value breach was detected in the country.

In this case, the states have reacted rapidly, although the question of whether there was an objective need for such measures remains debatable. Such a decision could be justified by the fact that it was the first case of the emergence of such sentiments in an EU member state. The European project was founded on the idea of rebuilding Europe after the tragedy of World War II and Austria was the first country, where after decades a party with Nazi roots joined the government in a European state (Mcintosh, 2019). This demonstrates that the context of events plays the crucial role. The member states were decisive in their actions as this case was an outlier in the existing state of affairs. The cases of Poland and Hungary, which will be discussed in the following sections did not trigger a similar immediate strong reaction due to the fact that Eurosceptic sentiment was dominating the context for a while.

Despite the fact that the Article 7 procedure already existed, although without the preventive part, it was not utilized. There can be several reasons for this. The Article 7 procedure was prepared in anticipation of the future Enlargement. As opposed to today when Article 7 is overall an instrument to be applied to all member states, at that time it

was not seen as an instrument to be applied in relation to existing members. At that moment Austria had already been an EU member for four years. Also, Article 7 requires the nature of the breach to be "serious and persistent". This presupposes monitoring the compliance with the values over some period of time in order to determine the nature of the breach, therefore this mechanism cannot be applied immediately, which the EU was willing to do.

A significant moment in the overall process was the establishment of the committee of the "three wise men". This committee had to produce a report assessing the value breach in Austria and the reaction of the EU. The report of the committee analyzed the legal framework of Austria and international agreements it is a party to, which was found satisfactory. It detected that the level of compliance with the EU values in Austria was comparable to the rest of the member states. Moreover, the level of protection of minority groups, for instance, was higher than in most of the member states (Duxbury and Ward, 2000, pp. 171-172). Eventually, the report concluded that no reforms breaching the EU values were implemented and that the sanctions of the member states should be lifted as there is no basis to justify them (Lachmayer, 2017, p. 442). Therefore, after 7 months the sanctions were lifted on 12 September 2000.

Eventually, the question whether the sanctions imposed on Austria were efficient remains debatable. The sanctions were imposed in a rush without a thorough preliminary analysis of the costs and potential benefits. In order to answer the question of the efficiency of these measures one has to clearly determine what was the initial goal when introducing them. The EU acted promptly as it believed that the statement of the Council would prevent the formation of the Austrian government including the Freedom Party (Freeman, 2002, p. 120). If the exclusion of the Freedom Party is seen as the main goal of the actions, then unquestionably such decision-making strategy was a failure as these measures did not induce any change in the Austrian government. Also, one can say that the goal of these sanctions was to demonstrate a unified reaction from the EU to the developments. When assessing the measures from this point of view, no clear conclusion can be made either. Although the sanctions were communicated on the EU level, essentially it was an action to be taken by every member state individually. Therefore, it is rather problematic to qualify this measure as a unified response. The Austrian case demonstrates complete neglect of the EU as a platform of consolidating the powers and

addressing the issue in a centralized manner on the supranational level. Consequently, when evaluating these measures today, the conclusion can be made that they constituted an overreaction.

The lesson taught by the Austrian case can be interpreted in many ways. On one hand, this case can be seen as a controversial sign for other countries that the EU only threatens to apply the Article 7 when referring to the value breach but will never use this tool in practice (Kochenov, 2017). On the other hand, the EU made two conclusions that became useful in the future. Firstly, albeit the Austrian case did not include any serious value breach, it served as a trigger for the revision of the existing tools ensuring compliance with values in the EU. The Article 7 TEU was eventually modified and the preventive mechanism was added to enhance the procedure. Secondly, this case signaled to the EU that the breach of the fundamental values can happen not only in the member states that are under the influence of Soviet path-dependency but also in the older members.

3.3 Poland (2015-2020)

3.3.1. Developments in Poland

This section will analyze the developments in Poland starting from the victory of the right-wing populist Law and Justice party (Prawo i Sprawedliwość, PiS) led by Jarosław Kaczyński in the parliamentary elections in 2015. This party was also reelected in 2019 although lost its majority in the upper house. Since 2015 Poland had started implementing illiberal reforms that benefitted consolidation of the autocratic power and undermined liberal values with which Poland is obliged to conform as a member of the EU. Polish authorities are accused of undermining the rule of law value through transforming the institutions. The rule of law value is based on such principles as the "independence of the judiciary, separation of powers and legal certainty" (European Commission, 2017a). The new bills passed compromised the separation of powers, endangered the irremovability of judges and established political dependency of the judiciary. The institutions affected included the Constitutional Court, Supreme Court, Ordinary courts and National Council for the Judiciary. The detailed timeline of the developments can be found in the Appendix 1.

The first changes applied to the Constitutional Court. This institution ensures that the laws do not violate the Polish constitution and resolves the clashes between the state institutions based on constitutional provisions (Democracy Reporting International, 2018). The PiS after coming to power reformed the Constitutional Court, introducing two-thirds majority of the 15 judges instead of a simple majority and quorum of 13 judges instead of 9 (Maurice, 2015). In addition, the Parliament appointed five new judges instead of the judges that were assigned by the previous government. Regardless of the fact that the Constitutional Tribunal recognized it as illegal, the President swore in the judges appointed by the new government (Democracy Reporting International, 2018).

The second institution affected is the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court serves as the highest court in Poland, where the rulings of the lower courts can be appealed (Democracy Reporting International, 2018). According to the new law that entered into force in April 2018, the retirement age of the judges was lowered from 70 to 65, which would force to retire 38% of judges.

This would also end the six-year term of the President of the Supreme Court prematurely. Also, the judges have the right to apply for an extension of their term for three years based on the President's decision, the criteria for which were not made clear (European Commission, 2019d). Two new chambers were created in 2017: Disciplinary Chamber that deals with disciplinary proceedings against judges and has an independent budget and president, Extraordinary Chamber with the power to overrule judgements of chambers (Democracy Reporting International, 2018).

The third institution affected by the PiS changes is the National Council for the Judiciary (NCJ). In 2018 the law was amended which allowed the lower house of parliament controlled by PiS to appoint the members of the NCJ. The main competence of this organ is to appoint the judges and protect the independence of the judiciary (BBC, 2020a). Before the amendment 15 out of 25 judges within the NCJ were appointed by their peers (Venice Commission, 2020). After the reform, the membership of the NCJ in the European Network of Councils for the Judiciary was suspended as it was no longer considered politically independent (BBC, 2019). The changes introduced by the PiS government also affected the common courts. In 2017 the retirement age for the judges of the ordinary courts was lowered to 60 for female judges and 65 for male judges from

67 for both genders. In addition, the Minister of Justice was given the right to prolong the judges' term after reaching the retirement age (Strupczewski, 2019).

When it comes to the most recent developments, in February 2020 the President signed into force a new controversial bill that has been labelled by the opposition the "muzzle law". It gives politicians the right to punish the judges who oppose the judicial reforms, question new appointments of the judges and government's decisions in general (Deutsche Welle, 2020). The government has the right to discipline or fire the judges whose rulings counter the government's stance (Dam, 2020). The new law was condemned by the international community. As the OSCE states, this bill violates the international and European law and further endangers the independence of the judiciary in Poland. The provisions that prohibit the judges to question the officials appointed by the president and take part in the public debates regarding the judicial reforms in Poland must be removed. This also applies to the provision regarding the increased penalties for judges in case of incompliance with the law. As the wording of the provision is vague, it leaves the space for interpretation that limits the judges' freedom of expression and might result in the exertion of groundless pressure on the courts (OSCE, 2020, p. 5). In addition, PiS ensured that presidential election will be held in May 2020 despite the coronavirus outbreak. It will be held in the form of a postal vote which raises several critiques. The capacity of the post and safety of such event are questioned. Moreover, what endangers the fairness of the elections is the limited amount opportunities of candidates to campaign, which boosts the chances of re-election for the current president Andrzej Duda (BBC, 2020a).

There are also several other domains heavily affected by the PiS reforms together with the judiciary. The government has also passed the bills that restricted the media freedom and a set of human rights. The media law amended by the PiS allowed reappointing the management of the public service media and establishing the National Media Council as a regulatory organ. The counter-terrorism law extends the Internal Security Agency's surveillance powers and allows blocking of websites without prior judicial authorization. Other laws concern limitations of assembly freedom, civil society freedom, women's reproductive rights, asylum seeker rights, etc. (Human Rights Watch, 2017).

According to the World Justice Project Rule of Law Index, the parameters of Poland since 2015 have significantly decreased. This index provides annual data on the rule of law in 128 countries of the world based on surveys. With 1 being the highest score and 0 the lowest, Poland's overall score dropped from 0,71 in 2015 to 0,66 in 2020, demonstrating a negative trend. In the EU & EFTA region, Poland is ranked 19th out of 24. The factor that indicates the extent to which the government is bound by law since 2015 has dropped from 0,77 to 0,58 in 2020. The factor that measures the respect of human rights in the country decreased from 0,77 to 0,64. Criminal justice parameters in five years dropped from 0,74 to 0,60 (WJP, 2020).

In sum, the scope of value breach by Poland was explicitly defined by the Commission when activating the Article 7(1) procedure. Poland was accused of the breach of the rule of law value, which lies in the "lack of an independent and legitimate constitutional review" and adoption by the parliament of the legislation that endangers the independence of the judiciary in Poland including the laws on Supreme Court, Ordinary Courts, NCJ and other laws (Eur-Lex, 2017b). The measures taken by the EU to the breaches will be discussed in the following section.

3.3.2. EU's response

The EU has applied several measures in an attempt to halt the illiberal developments in Poland. These measures include the Rule of Law Framework, Article 7 procedure and infringement proceedings. The overall approach of the EU can be described as gradual strengthening of measures together with the rising concerns regarding the efficiency of the existing toolbox. From pointing out the problem and establishing a dialogue with the violating state, the EU is currently considering new more powerful instruments. This section will analyze the existing tools applied to Poland one by one, a timeline of the developments can also be found in the Appendix 1.

The first instrument applied by the Commission was the launch of the Rule of Law Framework on 13 January 2016. When initiating it the Commission first requested information from Poland regarding the judiciary and media reform. Overall the Commission has sent three rule of law Recommendations within the Rule of Law Framework. The first Recommendation was sent on 27 July 2016, where the Commission emphasized the presence of a systemic threat to the rule of law in Poland. In the second

Recommendation that was issued in December 2016, the Commission declared that some of the issues were resolved by the Polish government, however, the most serious ones remained and, moreover, new problems had emerged. The Third Recommendation letter sent in July 2017 raised the issue of introducing new judiciary legislation that compromises the rule of law. It addressed the two laws on the Supreme Court regarding the retirement and reappointment of the Supreme Judges and on the National Council. The President vetoed amendments to these laws, therefore, the actions of the Commission had a positive effect. Later, Poland had asked for clarification letters regarding the third Recommendation twice, which the Commission provided. After this, Poland sent an official reply disagreeing with the concerns of Commission (Eur-Lex, 2017a). Fourth Rule of Law Recommendation was issued in December 2017 stating that no progress was achieved. This recommendation also included a Reasoned proposal to the Council to activate the Article 7(1) procedure. In sum, within the Framework, the Commission had issued more than 25 letters to Poland and held several meetings with Polish officials (Eur-Lex, 2017a).

As the Rule of Law Framework did not yield any positive changes, the Commission was forced to trigger the Article 7(1) procedure. The Commission issued the Reasoned Proposal to the Council to determine a clear risk of a serious breach of the rule of law in Poland on 20 December 2017 (Eur-Lex, 2017b). Within the framework of the Article 7 procedure, the General Affairs Council held three meetings. During these meetings, the Polish delegation made presentations regarding the issues raised in the Recommendation letters and answered questions of other representatives. It is also remarkable that the representatives of Central and Eastern European countries did not raise questions, which demonstrates that all of the member states are interested and thus equally involved (Michelot, 2019). The developments that are taking place today also demonstrate that the Article 7 has proven to be an inefficient instrument. The international organizations as the Council of Europe, OSCE, UN and the EU institutions have declared that "the situation in both Poland and Hungary has deteriorated since the triggering of Article 7(1)" (European Parliament, 2020b).

The third course of action of the EU includes the infringement proceedings against Poland, which are triggered by the Commission and involve the CJEU as the last resort. Each of the proceedings served as a reaction to the changes introduced to different

Polish institutions, according to the new laws. The measures included the infringement proceedings on the Polish Law of Ordinary Courts, Polish Law on Supreme Court, infringement proceeding against disciplinary regime for Polish judges. All of the cases were referred to the CJEU. Two infringement rulings have been issued by the CJEU (Pech and Wachowiec, 2020a).

The infringement procedure on the Polish Law on Ordinary Court was launched on 29 July 2017. It concerned the different retirement age for male and female judges, lowering the retirement age for ordinary judges and giving the Minister of Justice the power to extend the service of judges. On 20 December 2017, the case was referred to CJEU (C-192/18) (López Garrido and López Castillo, 2019, p. 23). In two years in November 2019 the CJEU ruled that the mentioned provisions breach the EU law. The second infringement on the Polish Law on Supreme Court (C-619/18) that was launched on 2 October 2018. This case was also referred to CJEU, which issued the interim measures in December 2018. The final ruling was announced on 24 June 2019, which is before the ruling for the previous case. The third infringement procedure was launched on 3 April 2019 regarding the new disciplinary regime for Polish judges. It was referred to the CJEU C-791/19 but no ruling has been issued yet. On 14 January 2020, the Commission has requested an interim measure according to the Article 279 TFEU.

The cases regarding the reforms of the judiciary in Poland were initiated and referred to the CJEU not only by the Commission but also by the Polish courts themselves within the procedure of preliminary ruling. The judges raised the questions regarding the competences on the newly created Disciplinary Chamber and the lowering of the retirement age of judges. All the cases C-585/18, C-624/18, and C-625/18 were joined as essentially the addressed the same issues (Democracy Reporting International, 2019). The CJEU issued the preliminary ruling on 19 November 2019. In January 2020 the ECJ had seven pending requests for preliminary rulings from polish courts (Pech and Wachowiec, 2020b).

The question whether the infringement proceedings in the domain of the rule law are efficient does not have a straight answer. This procedure is labelled as one of the most efficient tools by some scholars (Bárd and Carrera, 2020, p. 10). It also plays they the key role in the evolution of the EU law, as the rulings of the Court constitute precedents and facilitate better interpretation of the EU legislation. However, what is questioned by other

scholars is the timeframe, as the infringement procedure does not allow a rapid response. Moreover, the final ruling of the Court includes merely a fine for the violator, but the deeper reasons of the EU value breach are not addressed (Grabbe and Krekó, 2020).

As evident from the above, the EU has taken measures regarding all the changes introduced for different institutions of Poland's judicial system. Nevertheless, the stance of the EU at the moment can be described as rather reactive than proactive. All the decisions the EU has made served only as a response to the changes that took place and the most recent developments as the freshly adopted "muzzle law" in January 2020, demonstrate that democratic backsliding in Poland continues.

3.4 Hungary (2010-2020)

3.4.1 Developments in Hungary

Before analyzing the reaction of the EU it is important to briefly summarize what exactly were the changes that resulted in the breach of the EU values. The victory of the Fidesz party with two-thirds majority in the parliament in 2010 had marked the beginning of the democratic backsliding in Hungary. Since then the Hungarian prime minister Viktor Orban together with Fidesz have been abusing its supermajority to extend the control over the "opposition, the media, religious groups, academia, NGOs, the courts, asylum seekers, and the private sector" (Freedom House, 2019, p. 13). Hungary was the first member state of the EU whose status was downgraded to "partly free", according to the Freedom House in 2019 (Freedom House, 2019, p. 13). The detailed timeline of the developments can be found in the Appendix 2.

The transformation of the country proceeded rapidly after the elections. In April 2011 the Hungarian parliament had voted on and the President signed the new Constitution, also called the Fundamental Law. The adoption process was fast and not transparent to the public debate in the society and the media (Venice Commission, 2011). This led to several changes that endangered the EU values. For instance, according to the new Constitution, the two-thirds majority of the parliament got the right to veto the rulings of the Constitutional Court. The overall independence of the judiciary was endangered and the government appointed new officials in several institutions as Media Authority,

the Prosecution Service, and the National Bank of Hungary (Neuwahl and Kovacs, 2020, p.2). Hungary had officially changed its name and was no longer a republic. The new Constitution came into force on 1 January 2012 (Bárd and Carrera, 2020, p. 4). Later, throughout the years, seven amendments to the Fundamental Law were adopted (Bárd and Pech, 2019, p. 13).

These changes introduced by the government allowed Fidesz to win the elections subsequently in 2014 and 2018 (Miklóssy, 2018, p. 278). The parliament also passed new electoral law in November 2012 that favored the ruling party. Under the new law, the previous two round system was reduced to only one round and the number of parliamentary seats was reduced from 386 to 199. The Fidesz government also redesigned the constituency map through gerrymandering the districts. These changes helped Fidesz win 67% of parliamentary seats with only 45% votes in 2014 (Republikon Institute, 2014). In 2018 Fidesz got 49% during the parliamentary election which secured the third consecutive term for the Prime Minister Orban (Bayer, 2018).

What makes the case of value breach in Hungary unique is the personality of its prime minister Viktor Orban. There are two remarkable moments about him. Firstly, it is the shift of Orban's opinion on European integration. In the 1990-s, before Hungary's accession to the EU, which happened later in 2004, Fidesz and Viktor Orban were in support of Hungary joining the EU. Returning back to power in 2010 and being frustrated with the eventual constraints imposed after the accession, they took a completely polar stance (Encyclopedia Britannica, 2018). Secondly, Orban is one of the few politicians who has gained an extensive experience of working with the EU over a decade. Therefore, he knows how to navigate through chaotic structures and find the weak points, as for instance, his veto power in the European Council (Grabbe and Krekó, 2020). Viktor Orban is known for using any crisis, be it migration or the virus outbreak, to manipulate the circumstances for his own benefit (Bárd and Carrera, 2020, p. 4).

The transformations introduced by the Fidesz party affected a range of institutions. The changes concerned the Constitutional Court, where the government amended the rules of nominating the judges. The judges were nominated by the government, their judicial terms were extended from 9 to 12 years and age limit of 70 was abolished (Democracy Reporting International, 2017, p. 2). The extent of the problem is reflected in the increase of the applications to the European Court of Human Rights to

overrule the decision of the national court. The overall share of Hungarian applications rose from 0,7% to 10,4 % between 2010 and 2016 (Democracy Reporting International, 2017, p. 3).

The new government took control over the media with the adoption of the "Media Act" in 2011 (Neuwahl and Kovacs, 2020). According to the new law, the Media Council was established, which is appointed by the government and scrutinizes the public service media outlets. The Media Service Support and Asset Management Fund was also created, to which the assets of the public media companies were transferred and which is funded by the government and supervised by the Media Council (CMCS, 2011). With time the media freedom in Hungary eroded even further. In November 2018 the Central European Press and Media Foundation (KESMA) was created. Its establishment resulted in an unprecedented level of concentration on the Hungarian media market with the Fidesz-supporting owners (Medvegy, 2019). Hungary was placed 89th in the World Press Freedom Index in 2020, demonstrating a steady decline throughout the years since 2013 when it was ranked 56th (RSF, 2020).

A major concern for the EU was the "Stop Soros" package which criminalizes the support to asylum applications (European Commission, 2019e). This package includes three bills. The first bill concerns the organizations supporting migration. It gives the definition of an organization supporting migration and declares that every organization active in this domain is obliged to obtain a permit from the government, otherwise its activities are considered illegal. The second bill states that those organizations which were given the permit have to pay 25% "Immigration Funding Fee" to the state. The third bill extends the scope from organizations also to individuals which will be held liable for assisting asylum seekers (Boros, 2018, pp. 2-3). This package received its name from George Soros, who is considered by the government as the key financer of migration. This package is justified by Orban as a means to preserve Christian values in Hungary and combat crime and terrorism (Boros, 2018, pp. 3). The bills were passed in June 2018, declaring that individuals and non-governmental organizations which provide help to asylum seekers will be regarded as "facilitating illegal immigration" (BBC News, 2018).

In sum, in 2018 the European Parliament adopted a request to the Council, where it listed all of the accusations regarding the value breach in Hungary. The clear risk of a

serious breach was declared concerning a large set of values in the domains of: functioning of the constitutional and electoral systems, independence of the judiciary, corruption, data protection, human freedoms, rights of minorities, etc. (European Parliament, 2018). Despite the measures the EU has already taken, the erosion of values in Hungary is ongoing. The most recent developments in Hungary demonstrate that the government uses every opportunity to consolidate its power. Due to the crisis related to the coronavirus outbreak, the Hungarian parliament with a two-thirds majority has passed the so-called "Enabling Act" that allows the Prime Minister Orban rule by decree (Bárd and Carrera, 2020). The new law does not specify the time limit of its validity (Bayer, 2020).

3.4.2. EU's response

In response to the developments in Hungary, the EU has launched several infringement proceedings and triggered Article 7(1). The developments in Hungary, which started unfolding earlier than the value erosion in Poland, initially were not interpreted as systematic value breach but seen as separate *acquis* violations (Pech and Scheppele, 2017, p. 8). Therefore, the framing of the problem defined the tools applied. For instance, the judicial reform that undermines the rule of law value was addressed as a breach of law based on age discrimination (Pech and Scheppele, 2017, p. 13). It is worth noting that the infringement procedure launched against Hungary regarding the lowering of the retirement age of the judges was the first case of referring the systematic rule of law breach to the CJEU in 2012. The breach was framed as the violation of directive regarding equal opportunities and treatment in employment (Mańko, 2019, p. 6).

Later, several other infringement proceedings were launched as a response to developments in different domains. The procedure regarding Hungarian law prohibiting the sale of agricultural land to foreigners was launched in October 2014 and was referred by the Commission to the CJEU in May 2016. The same month a new infringement procedure was launched with regard to ensuring equal access of Roma children to quality education (Halmai, 2018, pp. 5-6). An infringement procedure was launched in April 2017 regarding the Higher Education Law, which violated the freedom to provide services, right of academic freedom and freedom to conduct a business. This case was referred to CJEU in December 2017 (European Commission, 2017b). Another

infringement procedure that was launched on 14 July 2017 and referred to CJEU on 7 December 2017 regards the NGO law in Hungary which discriminates donations from abroad to organizations violating the free movement of capital and the right to freedom of association (European Commission, 2017c). In July 2018 the Commission initiated an infringement procedure regarding the criminalization of activities that support asylum and residence application. On 25 July 2019, this case was referred to the CJEU (European Commission, 2019e).

The Article 7(1) procedure was launched against Hungary by the EP on 12 September 2018 (Marzocchi, 2019, p. 4). The proposal was passed to the Council in September 2018. To date, two hearings were held within the framework of the procedure. On 16 September 2019, the General Affairs Council had a debate regarding the strengthening the rule of law in the EU and held a hearing as a part of Article 7(1) procedure regarding Hungary. Within the framework of this hearing, Hungary had an opportunity to express its views and the ministers could ask questions regarding the issues raised in the European Parliament's proposal to launch Article 7(1) procedure. This event was rather a "peer review exercise" and no evaluation of the substance of the development was given (Council of the European Union, 2019, p. 4). The second formal hearing during the General Affairs Council was held on 10 December 2019. Three domains were discussed: independence of the judiciary, freedom of expression and academic freedom (Council of the European Union, 2020). As mentioned in the section regarding the EU's response to developments in Poland, the EU institutions and international organizations have noted that since the evoking of the of Article 7(1) the situation in Hungary has not improved (European Parliament, 2020b).

One more mechanism of influence is not explicitly spelled out in the legislation but is hidden within the European political groups. Due to the democratic backsliding in Hungary, the European Parliament's biggest group European People's Party (EPP) raised the question of expelling or suspending certain rights of Orban's Fidesz party in March 2019. Then the voting rights of Fidesz were suspended. The decision to suspend the voting rights was prolonged in February 2020 (De La Baume, Bayer and Barigazzi, 2020). Nevertheless, the EPP does not exert an influence on Fidesz to its fullest extent in order to tackle the democratic backsliding. The EPP has been criticized for simply redrawing

the "red lines" for Fidesz, which the latter masterfully omits without any consequences (Bárd and Carrera, 2020, p. 9).

When it comes to analyzing the role of most active actors, it is remarkable that in the case of Hungary, the EP plays a more important role as an institution compared to the Commission. The EP adopted resolutions on the new media law and constitution in 2011, a resolution on fundamental rights situation in 2013. The following resolutions on the situation in Hungary were adopted in June and December 2015, May 2017 (López Garrido and López Castillo, 2019, p. 30). The European Parliament has also demanded from the Commission to start the dialogue within the Rule of Law Framework with Hungary several times, but the Commission remained inactive. In addition, the European Parliament has launched the Article 7(1) procedure against Hungary for the first time in the history of the EU.

In response to the EU's measures, the Hungarian government actively uses the "national identity argument". This provision is mentioned in the Article 4 TEU and states that the EU is obliged to respect states' "national identities, inherent in their fundamental structures, political and constitutional, inclusive of regional and local self-government" (Eur-Lex, 2012c). This argument is utilized to justify the state's illiberal actions using a provision which is recognized by the EU law. For instance, Orban has mentioned it when opposing the EU regulations regarding the migration policy and the refugee quotas. This behavior was justified by protecting the "sovereignty and cultural identity" from the migrants (Kelemen and Pech, 2018, p. 14).

In sum, the EU has attempted to take different measures in the form of launching a wide range of the infringement proceedings and evoking the Article 7(1). There were also attempts to exert political influence on Fidesz in the European People's Party. Nevertheless, Viktor Orban together with Fidesz are continuing to exploit the crises to extend their powers as the recent developments demonstrate. Being granted the right to rule by decree due to the pandemic, Orban signals that Hungary has not altered its course of action. Potential solutions to this problem and erosion of liberal values in Poland will be assessed in the following section. To accomplish this, conclusions regarding the three studied cases will be made first.

3.5. Assessment and potential solutions

The examined cases show that the EU has not yet developed an efficient toolbox to ensure compliance with the EU values in the violating states. The Rule of Law Framework which was supposed to postpone the invoking of the Article 7 has proven to be ineffective as it did not prevent triggering the Article 7(1) for the cases of Poland and Hungary. The activation of the Rule of Law Framework for Poland only gave more time for the illiberal government to consolidate its powers before the Article 7 procedure was applied. In addition, although the Article 7 mechanism itself is elaborate on paper, the applicability of it to real cases is questionable. The application of the sanctioning mechanism requires unanimity in the European Council which is not achievable under the circumstances, when the violating states promised to block the decision to support one another. To date, the Article 7(1) procedure was launched within the framework of which three hearings of Poland and two hearings of Hungary in the General Affairs Council were organized.

Several conclusions can be made regarding the specificities of the value breach cases. Hungary and Poland draw attention to themselves because they contradict the goodness of fit principle (Radaelli, 2001). For the mentioned member states, the increased pressure from the EU institutions does not seem to induce the states to change but instead leads them to stick to existing policies. It is rather problematic to define whether the type of non-compliance for Hungary and Poland is intentional or unintentional. In these cases, the breach of EU values is not an aim in itself but a consequence of domestic actors pursuing their goals. The compliance with the EU values, from the perspective of domestic politics, is a concern that is often considered less important than other domestic issues. The success of compliance is dependent on its match with the vision of domestic actors and their interests. The non-compliance occurs in case of lack of political will and in this case it is expected to be of long-term nature (Falkner et al., 2005a, p.322). It can be argued, that the cases of judicial reforms in Hungary and Poland demonstrate retrenchment, according to Börzel's classification of Europeanisation outcomes (Börzel, 2003b).

The approach of the EU to the problem of value breach has several distinctive traits. Firstly, the EU demonstrates an internal inconsistency when applying its mechanisms throughout history. The reaction to elections in Austria in 1999 was rapid

and radical despite the fact that there was no risk of value breach detected. This behavior is different from the actions taken against Poland and Hungary now, where the infringement procedures are ongoing for years and the EU institutions prefer to abstain from radical measures. Moreover, at the moment it is evident that the approach of the EU also differs for the cases of Hungary and Poland. For instance, in the description of the Rule of Law Framework the Commission explicitly indicates that this Framework shall be applied equally to all member states that are breaching the values (European Commission, 2014). This Framework was applied only to Poland and not to Hungary, where the illiberal developments were detected much earlier. When comparing the cases of Poland and Hungary, for each of them a different EU institution plays a more important role. The proposal to trigger Article 7(1) was issued by the European Commission regarding Poland and by the European Parliament for the Hungarian case. While the LIBE EP committee was drafting the reasoned proposal to the Council on Article 7(1) activation since November 2017, the Commission was the first to activate the procedure against Poland in December 2017. The LIBE committee was instructed to draft a similar proposal against Hungary in May 2017, which is even earlier than against Poland and the launch of the procedure for Hungary had to wait until 2018.

The danger lies not only in the violating states but the EU institutions and member states who tend to ignore the Article 7 procedure and attempt to rely on other means (Kochenov, 2017, p.11). The actors that had the power to initiate the procedure preferred not to take the responsibility for years, just observing how the illiberal reforms in Hungary and Poland unfold. For instance, the Commission instead of initiating the Article 7, offered negotiations within the Rule of Law Framework for Poland. The European Parliament also focused on changing the existing structures instead of triggering the procedure. The member states wrote the letters to the Commission to take action, disregarding the fact that 1/3 of the member states have the power to initiate the Article 7 procedure themselves. The Council insisted on the annual rule of law dialogue as a method of influence instead of referring to the existing procedures of enforcing rule of law compliance (Kochenov, 2017, p.11).

Secondly, when tracing the evolution of the mechanisms, the EU demonstrates a tendency of taking a step back every time the situation requires decisive measures. New mechanisms are being invented over time, however, all with the same aim of postponing

the punishment of the member state. This is demonstrated by the fact that the Article 7 was complemented by the preventive mechanism. However, even with the existing preventive mechanism in the Article, when it came to handling the value breach in Poland and Hungary, the Commission created the Rule of Law Framework which was designed as another preliminary procedure before invoking the Article 7. The lack of political will among the member states and the EU institutions when it comes to taking punitive measures stimulates the establishment of alternative mechanisms.

Thirdly, to a certain extent, the EU itself creates an environment suitable for the thriving of authoritarian regimes (Kelemen, 2020, p. 483). The first factor lies in the fact that the cooperation culture of the EU paradoxically creates a situation, where the member states tend to overlook the problematic decisions of their peers. As opposed to pointing out the issue and confronting it, the states hope that the violator would redeem himself (Grabbe and Lehne, 2017). This can be detected among different alliances and groups within the EU. For instance, the Europarties as the EPP, shield the national member parties as they secure the votes for them. This limits the intervention of the EU in the domestic affairs (Kelemen, 2020, p. 483). The fear to criticize and impose strict measures can also be explained by the fact that other states are afraid to set a precedent by punishing their peer, which might lead to themselves being punished later (Grabbe and Lehne, 2017). The EU is trapped in a situation where it condemns but at the same time funds the illiberal regimes (Kelemen, 2020, p. 483). For instance, the right to veto the budget available to every member state casts a shadow on the potential efficiency of this tool. On one hand, adding the requirement to comply with the rule of law parameters might serve as a powerful incentive. However, on the other hand, the negotiations regarding the Multiannual Financial Framework often involve the member states testing one another. The budget is a result of tedious negotiations and the states cannot know in advance whether the violating member will dare to veto it.

Consequently, based on the measures taken, future possible courses of action can be outlined. The first option includes toughening the existing instruments and introducing strict punishment for the countries violating the EU values. The current state of affairs shows that the EU has to take a stronger stance and modify and universalize its approach to the violating member states. There are, however, several factors that hinder this scenario. The EU serves as a platform where decisions are made by consensus and

misbehavior of the member states is rarely addressed directly. This happens due to the fact that the member states are afraid to create a precedent that might trigger any measures against themselves in return. The EU is a compromise-making machine and the states would not want it to increase its supranational powers (Grabbe and Krekó, 2020). Also, not all actors are equally interested in taking serious measures against Poland and Hungary as the damage caused for the EU through democratic backsliding is high, however, the damage for separate heads of states or representatives is not sufficient enough to motivate them to act (Grabbe and Krekó, 2020).

Therefore, the second option implies considering a more bilateral approach by the member states. The lesson taught by the case of Austria demonstrates that the member states are capable to act bilaterally and achieve results through imposing punitive measures in such manner. The member states have to re-assess the value crisis in the EU as it poses a threat to the whole Union. Ideally, the combination of the EU supranational institutions tightening the grip and the member states showing more interest and being proactive in pressuring the violators would be useful in slowing down the erosion of the EU values.

It is evident that the EU has urgently to reconsider its stance as the fact that democratic institutions in Poland and Hungary are under attack poses a threat to the structures of the whole Union. For instance, the German and the Irish courts have already encountered issues when prosecuting Polish citizens as they were not able to ensure fair trial due to the fact that the independence of the judiciary in Poland is undermined (Bauomy, 2020). Another example is the extended access over the media in Hungary, which raises concerns regarding the fairness of the campaigns for the European Parliament elections (Végh, 2019). The existing instruments have not yielded any significant changes which endangers the liberal values not only in the violating states but in the whole EU.

Conclusions

The objective of this thesis was to identify and assess the mechanisms that the EU has invented in order to tackle the issue of value breach in the member states. The theoretical mechanisms were outlined using the Europeanisation framework, including the "hard" as well as "soft" mechanisms and the specifics of the value ensuring measures. The efficiency of the EU toolbox ensuring compliance with values and handling the violations was analyzed and evaluated. These mechanisms then were assessed in action with the help of process tracing in the empirical part, which covered developments in Austria (1999-2000), Poland (2015-2020) and Hungary (2010-2020). In terms of data, treaty provisions regarding the compliance ensuring mechanisms, secondary legislation issued by the EU institutions, press releases of the EU institutions and secondary analysis of the developments were used. The following conclusions were made.

To date, the instruments ensuring the compliance with the EU values include: infringement proceedings, Article 7 procedure, Rule of Law Framework, Cooperation and Verification mechanism, Justice Scoreboard, European Semester and Structural Reform Support Programme. In the case of Austria, none of the mentioned tools were used and the member states acted outside of the framework of the EU by imposing bilateral sanctions. Poland was subject to the Rule of Law framework, infringement proceedings and the Article 7(1) procedure. Only two latter tools were applied to Hungary. From the listed mechanisms applied, it is obvious that the approach of the EU is inconsistent, when it comes to enforcing compliance with values. In regard to every case, a different set of tools was applied. Moreover, the promptness of the reaction also varies. The sanctions were imposed on Austria immediately even in the absence of the value breach. The Article 7(1) procedure was activated for the first time against Poland in 2017, despite the fact that the illiberal developments had started first in Hungary in 2010 and in Poland only five years later.

The analysis of the existing instruments at the disposal of the EU shows that at the moment there is no existing efficient tool that would allow the EU to halt the illiberal reforms in the violating states. The evolution of the EU mechanisms demonstrates that the EU always takes a step back when inventing mechanisms that regulate value compliance. This process starts from the 1990-s, when the Article 7 had to be

complemented with a preventive mechanism and follows with the invention of the Rule of Law Framework, which was designed to postpone the activation of Article 7. The international organizations as the Council of Europe, OSCE, UN and the EU institutions have declared that "the situation in both Poland and Hungary has deteriorated since the triggering of Article 7(1)" (European Parliament, 2020b). Moreover, even if a strict mechanism is described in the legal framework of the EU, as the punitive mechanism in the Article 7, the institutions and the states have been hesitant to take any radical measures. The utilization of the latter requires unanimity in the European Council, which is threatened by the agreement of the violators to block the decision.

Not only does the EU not have powerful mechanisms ensuring value compliance, but it also creates a suitable environment for the member states to progress with their illiberal reforms. From the very beginning, the EU heavily relies on the member states to perform reforms in compliance with the EU values. This leads to a situation where the new mechanisms created are mostly based on the premise that the violating state is willing to cooperate (Grabbe and Lehne, 2017). The culture of cooperation results in hesitation and fear of other actors to use punitive measures. In addition, despite the fact that the EU condemns the illiberal regimes, it also funds them at the same time. Most of the existing procedures, including the approval of the budget, are susceptible to the right of veto inherent to every member state.

The expectations derived from the Europeanisation framework were valid when applied to the examined cases. As the violating member states oppose the EU standards, it is problematic for the EU to force them to comply. Moreover, due to the specificity of the value domain, it is problematic for the EU to declare what exactly constitutes a value breach, which makes it harder to sanction the states as the parameters of compliance with values are rather blurred. The issue is exacerbated by the fact that the nature of the violation allows it to unfold for some time. The problem of serious and persistent value breach cannot be addressed immediately as it requires some time to be detected.

Overall, any measures offered by the EU create a paradoxical situation. The member states that are implementing reforms that breach the EU values stick to this behavior due to their re-evalution of European integration. These states appeal to the fact that the EU is too intruding in their policies and the states have the right to preserve their national identities that are embedded in their political and other structures. On one hand,

decisive measures to be taken by the EU are required in order to demonstrate that this project has the capacity to tackle this issue. One the other hand, any serious statements from the EU side might result in the exacerbation of the situation through provoking a reaction of the breaching states. Ultimately, such situation could lead to political disintegration and pose a threat to the whole existence of the Union.

However, one thing remains clear. The existing tools that are rooted in the soft mechanisms of socialization, naming and shaming proved themselves to be inefficient. Based on the aforementioned observations, a recommendation can be given regarding the current and future policy of the EU. The EU has to review its policy in this domain and turn to more punitive and coercive measures as opposed to positive socialization. The costs of incompliance for the violating states have to exceed the costs of aligning with the EU values when implementing reforms. Not only the EU institutions, but also the heads of other governments and states need to reconsider their views and take a more proactive stance in this matter. Currently, the most promising tool at the disposal of the EU is the shaping of the Multiannual Financial Framework for 2021-2027. Including the requirement of compliance with the rule of law in order to get the EU funding will be a powerful incentive for the violating countries to reconsider their course of action.

Bibliography

Bachmaier, L., 2019. Compliance With The Rule Of Law In The EU And The Protection Of The Union'S Budget. [online] Eucrim.eu. Available at: https://eucrim.eu/articles/compliance-with-the-rule-of-law-in-the-eu-and-the-protection-of-the-unions-budget/ [Accessed 20 Apr. 2020].

Bárd, P. and Carrera, S., 2020. Showing True Illiberal Colours – Rule Of Law Vs Orbán'S Pandemic Politics. [online] Centre for European Policy Studies. Available at: https://www.ceps.eu/ceps-publications/showing-true-illiberal-colours/?mc_cid=045702e042&mc_eid=885015ba39 [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Bárd, P. and Pech, L., 2019. How To Build And Consolidate A Partly Free Pseudo Democracy By Constitutional Means In Three Steps: The 'Hungarian Model'. [online] Reconnect. Available at: https://reconnect-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/RECONNECT-WP4-final.pdf [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Barroso, J., 2013. State Of The Union Address 2013. [online] European Commission.

Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/SPEECH_13_684 [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Bauomy, J., 2020. Germany Refuses To Extradite Pole Under European Arrest Warrant Due To Fair Trial Fears. [online] Euronews. Available at: https://www.euronews.com/2020/03/09/germany-refuses-to-extradite-pole-under-european-arrest-warrant-due-to-fair-trial-fears [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Bayer, L., 2018. Orbán Wins Landslide To Secure Third Straight Term. [online] Politico. Available at: https://www.politico.eu/article/hungary-election-2018-viktor-orban-fidesz-jobbik/ [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

Bayer, L., 2020. Hungary's Viktor Orbán Wins Vote To Rule By Decree. [online] Politico. Available at: https://www.politico.eu/article/hungary-viktor-orban-rule-by-decree/ [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

BBC. 2019. Poland May Have To Leave EU, Supreme Court Warns. [online] Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-50828516 [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

BBC. 2020a. Poland Judges: Parliament And Supreme Court Issue Rival Rulings. [online] Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-51226100 [Accessed 22 Apr. 2020].

BBC. 2020b. Poland Plans May Election Despite Pandemic. [online] Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-52199897 [Accessed 29 Apr. 2020].

BBC News. 2018. Hungary Passes 'Stop Soros' Law Banning Help For Migrants. [online] Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-44546030 [Accessed 11 May 2020].

BBC News. 2020. Austria Profile - Timeline. [online] Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-17431408 [Accessed 1 Apr. 2020].

Beach, D. and Pedersen, R. (2013). Process-Tracing Methods: Foundations and Guidelines. University of Michigan Press.

Bennett, A. and Checkel, J. ed., 2014. Process tracing: From philosophical roots to best practices. In: Process Tracing: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.3-37.

Besselink, L., 2017. The Bite, the Bark, and the Howl: Article 7 TEU and the Rule of Law Initiatives. In: A. Jakab and D. Kochenov, ed., The Enforcement of EU Law and Values: Ensuring Member States' Compliance. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.128-144.

Boros, T., 2018. The Hungarian "STOP Soros" Act: Why Does The Government Fight Human Rights Organisations?. [online] Friedrich Ebert Stiftung. Available at: https://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/budapest/14205.pdf [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Börzel, T. 2003a. How the European Union Interacts with its Member States. IHS Political Science Series, 93.

Börzel, T. 2003b. How the European Union Interacts with its Member States. IHS Political Science Series, 93.

Börzel, T. and Risse, T., 2003. Conceptualizing the Domestic Impact of Europe. In: K. Featherstone and C. Radaelli, ed., The Politics of Europeanisation. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.1-20.

Budó, G., 2014. EU Common Values At Stake: Is Article 7 TEU An Effective Protection Mechanism?. Documents CIDOB, pp.1-14.

Bulmer, S. and Radaelli, C., 2013. The Europeanization of Member State Policy. In: S. Bulmer and C. Lequesne, ed., The Member States of the European Union, 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.357-377.

Checkel, J., 2005. International Institutions and Socialization in Europe: Introduction and Framework. International Organization, 59(4), pp.801-826.

CMCS. 2011. Media Law In Hungary. [online] Available at: http://medialaws.ceu.hu/public service media more.html [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Council of Europe. 2018. Venice Commission. [online] Available at: https://www.venice.coe.int/WebForms/pages/?p=01_Presentation [Accessed 4 Mar. 2020].

Council of the European Union. 2019. General Affairs Council Monday 16 September 2019 In Brussels. [online] Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/40636/background-note.pdf [Accessed 12 May 2020].

Council of the European Union. 2020. Report On The Hearing Held By The Council On 10 December 2019. [online] Available at: shorturl.at/oAHNX [Accessed 12 May 2020].

Cuddy, A. 2018. European Parliament votes to trigger Article 7 sanctions procedure against Hungary. [online] Euronews. Available at: https://www.euronews.com/2018/09/12/european-parliament-votes-to-trigger-article-7-sanctions-procedure-against-hungary [Accessed 24 Feb. 2020].

CURIA. 2018a. Judgment Of The Court (Third Chamber) Of 22 February 2018 European Commission V Hellenic Republic. [online] Available at: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?language=en&num=C-328/16&td=ALL [Accessed 10 May 2020].

CURIA. 2018b. Judgment Of The Court (Eighth Chamber) Of 25 July 2018 European Commission V Kingdom Of Spain. [online] Available at: http://curia.europa.eu/juris/liste.jsf?language=en&num=C-205/17&td=ALL [Accessed 10 May 2020].

Dam, P., 2020. Welcome New Monitoring For Poland. [online] Human Rights Watch. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/01/29/welcome-new-monitoring-poland [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

De La Baume, M., Bayer, L. and Barigazzi, J., 2020. EPP Prolongs Suspension Of Hungary'S Fidesz Indefinitely. [online] Politico. Available at: https://www.politico.eu/article/epp-prolongs-suspension-of-hungarys-fidesz-indefinitely/ [Accessed 25 Apr.2020].

Democracy Reporting International. 2017. Judging By Results: 5 Facts On Hungary's 'Illiberal State'. [online] Available at: https://democracy-reporting.org/de/dri_publications/5-facts-on-the-state-of-hungarys-democracy/ [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Democracy Reporting International. 2018. What Is Happening To Poland's Judges?. [online] Available at: https://www.democracy-reporting.org/poland-judges/ [Accessed 22 Apr. 2020].

Democracy Reporting International. 2019. Backgrounder: Upcoming CJEU Decision On Poland. [online] Available at: https://democracy-reporting.org/de/dri_publications/backgrounder-cjeu-decision-on-poland/ [Accessed 24 Apr. 2020].

De Schutter, O., 2017. Infringement Proceedings As A Tool For The Enforcement Of Fundamental Rights In The European Union. Open Society European Policy Institute, pp.1-68.

Deutsche Welle. 2020. Poland: Lawmakers Give Green Light To Judge 'Muzzle Law'. [online] Available at: https://www.dw.com/en/poland-lawmakers-give-green-light-to-judge-muzzle-law/a-52131026 [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

Duxbury, A. and Ward, C., 2000. Austria and the European Union the report of the 'Three Wise Men'. Melbourne Journal of International Law, pp.169 - 174.

Eilstrup-Sangiovanni, M. ed., 2006. Pre-Theories on International Integration. In: Debates on European Integration. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.17-36.

Encyclopedia Britannica. 2018. Fidesz. [online] Available at: https://www.britannica.com/topic/Fidesz [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2012a. Consolidated version of the Treaty on European Union - Article 2. [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/treaty/teu_2012/art_2/oj [Accessed 24 Feb. 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2012b. Consolidated version of the Treaty on European Union - Article 7. [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A12012M007 [Accessed 24 Feb. 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2012c. Consolidated Version Of The Treaty On European Union - Article 4. [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A12012M004 [Accessed 12 March 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2017a. Commission Recommendation (EU) 2018/103. [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1555061792039&uri=CELEX%3A32018H0103 [Accessed 7 Mar. 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2017b. Proposal For A Council Decision On The Determination Of A Clear Risk Of A Serious Breach By The Republic Of Poland Of The Rule Of Law. [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52017PC0835 [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2018. Treaty Of Maastricht On European Union. [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Axy0026 [Accessed 16 Apr. 2020].

Eur-Lex. 2020. Accession Criteria (Copenhagen Criteria). [online] Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/summary/glossary/accession_criteria_copenhague.html [Accessed 1 May 2020].

European Commission. 2003. Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2003/EN/1-2003-606-EN-F1-1.Pdf [Accessed 27 Feb. 2020].

European Commission. 2014. European Commission presents a framework to safeguard the rule of law in the European Union. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_14_237 [Accessed 26 Feb. 2020].

European Commission. 2017a. Rule Of Law: European Commission Acts To Defend Judicial Independence In Poland. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_17_5367 [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2017b. Commission Refers Hungary To The European Court Of Justice Of The EU Over The Higher Education Law. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_17_5004 [Accessed 11 May 2020].

European Commission. 2017c. Infringements – European Commission Refers Hungary To The Court Of Justice For Its NGO Law. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_17_5003 [Accessed 11 May 2020].

European Commission. 2018a. Single Market Scoreboard – Infringements.

[online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/scoreboard/performance_by_governance_tool/infringements/index_en.htm [Accessed 18 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2018b. Proposal For A Regulation Of The European Parliament And Of The Council On The Protection Of The Union's Budget In Case Of Generalised Deficiencies As Regards The Rule Of Law In The Member States. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/protection-union-budget-rule-law-may2018_en.pdf [Accessed 21 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2019a. The EU's Rule of Law toolbox. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/rule_of_law_factsheet_1.pdf [Accessed 4 Mar. 2020].

European Commission. 2019b. Cooperation And Verification Mechanism Reports On Bulgaria And Romania. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/qanda_19_6137 [Accessed 20 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2019c. Strengthening The Rule Of Law Through Increased Awareness, An Annual Monitoring Cycle And More Effective Enforcement. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_19_4169 [Accessed 21 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2019d. European Commission Statement On The Judgment Of The European Court Of Justice On Poland's Supreme Court Law. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/statement_19_3376 [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2019e. Commission Takes Hungary To Court For Criminalising Activities In Support Of Asylum Seekers And Opens New Infringement For Non-Provision Of Food In Transit Zones. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_19_4260 [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2019f. 2018 EU-28 Countries Factsheet On Monitoring The Application Of EU Law. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/eu28-factsheet-2018_en.pdf [Accessed 10 May 2020].

European Commission. 2019g. Report From The Commission 2018 - Commission Staff Working Document - General Statistical Overview - Part 1. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/report-2018-commission-staffworking-document-monitoring-application-eu-law-general-statistical-overview-part1_0.pdf [Accessed 10 May 2020].

European Commission. 2020a. Infringement procedure. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/law-making-process/applying-eu-law/infringement-procedure en [Accessed 27 Feb. 2020].

European Commission. 2020b. Structural Reform Support Programme (SRSP). [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/funding-opportunities/funding-programmes/overview-funding-programmes/structural-reform-support-programme-srsp_en [Accessed 20 Apr. 2020].

European Commission. 2020c. Why Do We Need The Charter?. [online] Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/aid-development-cooperation-fundamental-rights/your-rights-eu/eu-charter-fundamental-rights/why-do-we-need-charter_en [Accessed 1 May 2020].

European Parliament. 2018. Rule Of Law In Hungary: Parliament Calls On The EU To Act. [online] Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/20180906IPR12104/rule-of-law-in-hungary-parliament-calls-on-the-eu-to-act [Accessed 24 Apr. 2020].

European Parliament. 2019. MFF - Proposal for a Regulation on the Protection of the Union's Budget in Case of Generalised Deficiencies as Regards the Rule of Law in the Member States. [online] Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/legislative-

train/theme-new-boost-for-jobs-growth-and-investment/file-mff-protection-of-eu-budget-in-case-of-rule-of-law-deficiencies [Accessed 18 Apr. 2020].

European Parliament. 2020a. Ongoing Hearings Under Article 7(1) Of The TEU Regarding Poland And Hungary. [online] Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2020-0014_EN.html [Accessed 12 March 2020].

European Parliament. 2020b. Rule Of Law In Poland And Hungary Has Worsened. [online] Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/pressroom/20200109IPR69907/rule-of-law-in-poland-and-hungary-has-worsened [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

European Union. 2020. The EU In Brief. [online] Available at: https://europa.eu/european-union/about-eu/eu-in-brief_en [Accessed 1 May 2020].

Falkner, G., 2001. The EU14's "Sanctions" Against Austria: Sense and Nonsense. Journal of the European Union Studies Association, 14(1), pp.14-20.

Falkner, G., Treib, O., Hartlapp, M. and Leiber, S. ed., 2005a. Three worlds of compliance: A typology. In: Complying with Europe: EU Harmonisation and Soft Law in the Member States. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.317-341.

Falkner, G., Treib, O., Hartlapp, M. and Leiber, S. ed., 2005b. Theorising the domestic impact of EU law: The state of the art and beyond. In: Complying with Europe: EU Harmonisation and Soft Law in the Member States. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.11-40.

Fiddler, A., 2019. The Art Of Resistance: Cultural Protest Against The Austrian Far Right In The Early Twenty-First Century. New York: Berghahn Books.

Flockhart, T. 2010, Europeanization or EU-ization? The Transfer of European Norms across Time and Space. Journal of Common Market Studies 48(4), pp. 787-810.

Freedom House. 2019. Freedom In The World 2019. [online] Available at: https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/Feb2019_FH_FITW_2019_Report_ForWeb -compressed.pdf [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Freeman, H., 2002. Austria: The 1999 Parliament Elections and the European Union Members' Sanctions. Boston College International and Comparative Law Review, 25(1), pp.109-124.

Grabbe, H., 2001. How does Europeanization affect CEE governance? Conditionality, diffusion and diversity. Journal of European Public Policy, 8(6), pp.1013-1031.

Grabbe, H. and Krekó, P., 2020. Hungary, The Rule Of Law, And The EU's Responses, Webinar, University College London, delivered 30 April 2020.

Grabbe, H. and Lehne, S., 2017. Defending EU Values In Poland And Hungary. [online] Carnegie Europe. Available at: https://carnegieeurope.eu/2017/09/04/defending-eu-values-in-poland-and-hungary-pub-72988 [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Graziano, P. and Vink, M., 2013. Europeanization: Concepts, Theory, and Methods. In: S. Bulmer and C. Lequesne, ed., The Member States of the European Union, 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.31-54.

Halmai, G., 2018. The Possibility And Desirability Of Economic Sanction: Rule Of Law Conditionality Requirements Against Illiberal EU Member States. [online] Cadmus.

Available at: https://cadmus.eui.eu/bitstream/handle/1814/51644/LAW_2018_06.pdf?sequence=1&is Allowed=y [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Holzhacker, R. and Haverland, M., 2006. European Research Reloaded: Cooperation And Integration Among Europeanized States. Dordrecht: Springer.

Hooghe, L., 2005. Several Roads Lead to International Norms, but Few Via International Socialization: A Case Study of the European Commission. International Organization, 59(4), pp.861-898.

Human Rights Watch. 2017. Eroding Checks And Balances: Rule Of Law And Human Rights Under Attack In Poland. [online] Available at: https://www.hrw.org/report/2017/10/24/eroding-checks-and-balances/rule-law-and-human-rights-under-attack-poland [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

Jupille, J., Caporaso, J. and Checkel, J., 2003. Integrating Institutions: Rationalism, Constructivism, and the Study of the European Union. Comparative Political Studies, 36(1-2), pp.7-40.

Kelemen, R., 2020. The European Union's authoritarian equilibrium. Journal of European Public Policy, 27(3), pp.481-499.

Kelemen, R. and Pech, L., 2018. Why Autocrats Love Constitutional Identity And Constitutional Pluralism: Lessons From Hungary And Poland. [online]

RECONNECT. Available at: https://reconnect-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/RECONNECT-WorkingPaper2-Kelemen-Pech-LP-KO.pdf [Accessed 12 May 2020].

Klamert, M. and Kochenov, D., 2019. Article 2 TEU. In: M. Kellerbauer, M. Klamert and J. Tomkin, ed., The Treaties and the Charter of Fundamental Rights – A Commentary. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.22-30.

Knill, C., 2009a. Towards generalisation: different mechanisms of Europeanisation. In: The Europeanisation of National Administrations. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.213-227.

Knill, C., 2009b. The keywords: European integration, comparative administration and implementation. In: The Europeanisation of National Administrations. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.9-19.

Knill, C. and Lehmkuhl, D., 1999. How Europe Matters. Different Mechanisms of Europeanization. European Integration online papers, [online] 3(7). Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=302746.

Knill, C. and Lenschow, A., 2005. Coercion, Competition and Communication: different Approaches of European Governance and their Impact on National Institutions. Journal of Common Market Studies, 43(3), pp.581-604.

Kochenov, D., 2017. Busting the Myths Nuclear: A Commentary on Article 7 TEU. SSRN Electronic Journal, [online] Available at: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2965087 [Accessed 18 Apr. 2020]

Kochenov, D., 2019. Article 7 TEU: A Commentary on the Much Talked-about "Dead" Provision. 38 Polish Yearbook of Inernational Law, pp.1-26.

Kochenov, D. and Pech, L., 2016. Better Late than Never? On the Commission's Rule of Law Framework and its First Activation. Journal of Common Market Studies, 54(5), pp.1062–1074.

Kochenov, D., Pech, L. and Scheppele, K., 2017. The European Commission's Activation of Article 7: Better Late than Never?. [online] Verfassungsblog. Available at: https://verfassungsblog.de/the-european-commissions-activation-of-article-7-better-late-than-never/ [Accessed 24 Feb. 2020].

Koops, C., 2014, Contemplating compliance: European compliance mechanisms in international perspective, PhD thesis, Amsterdam Center for International Law, Amsterdam, pp. 89-153.

Lachmayer, K., 2017. Questioning the Basic Values—Austria and Jörg Haider. In: A. Jakab and D. Kochenov, ed., The Enforcement of EU Law and Values: Ensuring Member States' Compliance. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.436–455.

Ladi, S., 2005. Europeanisation and Environmental Policy Change. Policy and Society, 24(2), pp.1-15.

López Garrido, D. and López Castillo, A. 2019. The EU framework for enforcing the respect of the rule of law and the Union's fundamental principles and values. [online] European Parliament. Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2019/608856/IPOL_STU(2019) 608856 EN.pdf [Accessed 3 Mar. 2020].

Mader, O., 2019. Enforcement of EU Values as a Political Endeavour: Constitutional Pluralism and Value Homogeneity in Times of Persistent Challenges to the Rule of Law. Hague Journal on the Rule of Law, 11(1), pp.133-170.

Mangiameli, S., 2013. Article 2. The Homogeneity Clause. In: H. Blanke and S. Mangiameli, ed., The Treaty on European Union (TEU): A Commentary. Berlin: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp.109-156.

Mańko, R., 2019. [online] European Parliament. Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2019/642280/EPRS_BRI(2019)6 42280_EN.pdf [Accessed 4 Mar. 2020].

Marzocchi, O., 2019. The protection of fundamental rights in the EU: European Parliament achievements during the 2014-2019 legislative term and challenges for the future. [online] European Parliament. Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2019/621911/IPOL_BRI(2019)6 21911 EN.pdf [Accessed 3 Mar. 2020].

Maurice, E., 2015. Polish Government Curtails Constitutional Tribunal's Powers. [online] EUobserver. Available at: https://euobserver.com/political/131662 [Accessed 22 Apr. 2020].

Mcintosh, J., 2019. Austria's FPÖ Freedom Party: A turbulent history. [online] Deutsche Welle. Available at: https://www.dw.com/en/austrias-fp%C3%B6-freedom-party-a-turbulent-history/a-48789817 [Accessed 4 Mar. 2020].

Medvegy, G., 2019. Slowly And Stealthily: Rule Of Law Being Undermined In Hungary. [online] Liberties.eu. Available at: https://www.liberties.eu/en/news/slowly-and-stealthily-rule-of-law-being-undermined-in-hungary/18023 [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

Merlingen, M., Mudde, C. and Sedelmeier, U., 2001. The Right and the Righteous? European Norms, Domestic Politics and the Sanctions Against Austria. Journal of Common Market Studies, 39(1), pp.59-77.

Michelot, M., 2019. The "Article 7" Proceedings Against Poland And Hungary: What Concrete Effects?. [online] Institut Jacques Delors. Available at: https://institutdelors.eu/en/publications/ trashed/ [Accessed 29 Apr. 2020].

Miklóssy, K., 2018. Lacking rule of law in the lawyers' regime: Hungary. Journal of Contemporary European Studies, 26(3), pp.270-284.

Neuwahl, N. and Kovacs, C., 2020. Hungary and the EU's rule of law protection. Journal of European Integration, pp.1-16.

Nobel Media, 2020. The Nobel Peace Prize 2012. [online] Available at: https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/peace/2012/summary/ [Accessed 17 Apr. 2020].

OSCE. 2020. ODIHR Urgent Interim Opinion On The Bill Amending The Act On The Organization Of Common Courts, The Act On The Supreme Court And Certain Other Acts Of Poland. [online] Available at: https://www.osce.org/odihr/443731?download=true [Accessed 25 Apr. 2020].

Page, E., 2003. Europeanization and the Persistence of Administrative Systems. In: Governing Europe, eds., J. Hayward and A. Menon, 162-179. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Pech, L. and Scheppele, K., 2017. Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU. Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies, 19, pp.3-47.

Pech, L. and Wachowiec, P., 2020a. 1460 Days Later: Rule Of Law In Poland R.I.P. (Part I). [online] Verfassungsblog. Available at: https://verfassungsblog.de/1460-days-later-rule-of-law-in-poland-r-i-p-part-i/ [Accessed 24 Apr. 2020].

Pech, L. and Wachowiec, P., 2020b. 1095 Days Later: From Bad To Worse Regarding The Rule Of Law In Poland (Part II). [online] Verfassungsblog. Available at: https://verfassungsblog.de/1095-days-later-from-bad-to-worse-regarding-the-rule-of-law-in-poland-part-ii/ [Accessed 24 Apr. 2020].

Radaelli, C., 2000. Whither Europeanization? Concept Stretching and Substantive Change. European Integration online Papers, [online] 4(8). Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=302761 [Accessed 6 Apr. 2020].

Radaelli, C., 2001. The Domestic Impact of European Union Public Policy: Notes on Concepts, Methods, and the Challenge of Empirical Research. Politique européenne, 5, pp.107-142.

Rasmussen, M., 2018. Accountability challenges in EU economic governance? Parliamentary scrutiny of the European Semester. Journal of European Integration, 40(3), pp.341-357.

Republikon Institute, 2014. Hungarian Elections 2014: Turnout And The Impact Of The Electoral System. [online] 4Liberty.eu. Available at: http://4liberty.eu/republikon-institute-election-2014-turnout-and-the-impact-of-the-electoral-system/ [Accessed 25 Apr, 2020].

Risse, T., Green Cowles, M. and Caporaso, J., 2001. Europeanization and Domestic Change: Introduction. In: M. Green Cowles, J. Caporaso and T. Risse, ed., Europeanization and Domestic Change. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, pp.1-20.

RSF. 2020. Hungary: Things Do Not Improve. [online] Available at: https://rsf.org/en/hungary [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Sadurski, W., 2004. The Role of the EU Charter of Rights in the Process of Enlargement. In: G. Bermann and K. Pistor, ed., Law and Governance in an Enlarged European Union. Oxford: Hart Publishing.

Sadurski, W., 2010. Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement, and Jörg Haider. Sydney Law School Research Paper, 10(1), pp.1-36.

Scheppele, K. and Pech, L., 2018. Didn't the EU Learn That These Rule-of-Law Interventions Don't Work?. [online] Verfassungsblog. Available at: https://verfassungsblog.de/didnt-the-eu-learn-that-these-rule-of-law-interventions-dontwork/ [Accessed 4 Mar. 2020].

Schimmelfennig, F., 2007. Strategic Calculation and International Socialization: Membership Incentives, Party Constellations, and Sustained Compliance in Central and Eastern Europe. In: J. Checkel, ed., International Institutions and Socialization in Europe. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp.31–62.

Schmidt, S., 1996. Sterile Debates and Dubious Generalisations: An Empirical Critique of European Integration Theory Based on the Integration Processes in Telecommunications and Electricity. SSRN Electronic Journal, [online] pp.1-52. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2494249 [Accessed 10 May 2020].

Schmidt, V., 2002, Europeanization and the Mechanics of Economic Policy Adjustment. Journal of European Public Policy 9 (6), pp. 894-912.

Šelih, J., Bond, I. and Dolan, C., 2017. Can EU Funds Promote The Rule Of Law In Europe?. [online] Centre for European Reform. Available at: https://www.cer.eu/publications/archive/policy-brief/2017/can-eu-funds-promote-rule-law-europe [Accessed 20 Apr. 2020].

Strelkov, A., 2018. 'EU Justice Scoreboard: a new policy tool for "deepening" European integration?'. Journal of Contemporary European Studies, 27(1), pp.15-27.

Strupczewski, J., 2019. Poland's Lowering Of Retirement Age For Judges Breaks EU Laws: EU Court Adviser. [online] Reuters. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-poland-eu-court/polands-lowering-of-retirement-age-for-judges-breaks-eu-laws-eu-court-adviser-idUSKCN1TL0QM [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

Toneva-Metodieva, L., 2014. Beyond the Carrots and Sticks Paradigm: Rethinking the Cooperation and Verification Mechanism Experience of Bulgaria and Romania. Perspectives on European Politics and Society, 15(4), pp.534-551.

Tsakatika, M., 2012. Slovenian Employment Policy: 'Soft' Europeanisation by Consensus. Europe-Asia Studies, 64(4), pp.673-693.

Végh, Z., 2019. European Parliamentary Elections In Hungary. [online] Clingendael. Available at: https://www.clingendael.org/publication/european-parliamentary-elections-hungary [Accessed 30 Apr. 2020].

Venice Commission. 2011. Opinion On The New Constitution Of Hungary.

[online] Available at:

https://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/default.aspx?pdffile=CDL-AD%282011%29016-e [Accessed 24 Apr. 2020].

Venice Commission. 2016. Rule of Law Checklist. [online] Available at: https://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/default.aspx?pdffile=CDL-AD(2016)007-e [Accessed 18 Apr. 2020].

Venice Commission. 2020. Poland Joint Urgent Opinion. [online] Available at: https://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/default.aspx?pdffile=CDL-PI(2020)002-e [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

Wahl, T., 2019. 2019 EU Justice Scoreboard: Downward Trend For Judicial Independence. [online] Eucrim.eu. Available at: https://eucrim.eu/news/2019-eu-justice-scoreboard-downward-trend-judicial-independence/ [Accessed 20 Apr. 2020].

WJP. 2020. WJP Rule Of Law Index: Poland. [online] Available at: https://worldjusticeproject.org/rule-of-law-

index/country/2020/Poland/Criminal%20Justice/ [Accessed 23 Apr. 2020].

Wodak, R. and Pelinka, A., 2002. The Haider Phenomenon In Austria. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.

Ziółkowski, M. and Grabowska-Moroz, B., 2019. Enforcement Of EU Values And The Tyranny Of National Identity – Polish Examples And Excuses. [online] Verfassungsblog. Available at: https://verfassungsblog.de/enforcement-of-eu-values-and-the-tyranny-of-national-identity-polish-examples-and-excuses/ [Accessed 12 March 2020].

Zürn, M. and Checkel, J., 2007. Getting Socialized to Build Bridges: Constructivism and Rationalism, Europe and the Nation-State. In: J. Checkel, ed., International Institutions and Socialization in Europe. pp.241–274.

Appendices

Appendix 1

13 January 2016	Commission starts the dialogue with Poland within the
	Rule of Law Framework.
13 April 2016	EP resolution: supporting the launch of the Rule of Law
	Framework.
1 June 2016	Commission issues a Rule of Law Opinion.
27 July 2016	Commission adopts the first Rule of Law
	Recommendation, explaining the launch of RoLF and
	declaring a systemic threat to the rule of law in Poland.
	Poland has 3 months to answer but the government
	disagreed.
14 September 2016	EP resolution: condemning the developments in Poland.
21 December 2016	Commission adopts a second Rule of Law
	Recommendation. Polish government rejects the
	Commission's points once more
20 January 2017	A comprehensive judiciary reform is announced in Poland.
16 May 2017	Commission informs the Council on the situation in
	Poland.
13 July 2017	Commission sends one more recommendation letter which
	remains ignored.
26 July 2017	Four laws reforming the judicial system are adopted in
	Poland, two of them signed into force by the President.
	The Commission adopts a third Rule of Law
	Recommendation, concerning the Constitutional Tribunal
	and judicial reforms.
29 July 2017	Commission launches an infringement procedure on the
	Polish Law on Ordinary Courts, concerning retirement of
	judges.

31 July 2017	Polish President vetoes the laws amending the Law on
	National Council for the Judiciary and the Law on the
	Supreme Court.
4 August 2017	Poland asks for a clarification letter in relation to the third
	rule of law Recommendation.
8 August 2017	Commission provides clarification.
16 August 2017	Poland asks for a clarification letter in relation to the third
	rule of law Recommendation again.
21 August 2017	Commission provides clarification.
28 August 2017	Poland sends an official reply to the third
	Recommendation, stating it disagrees with issues raised.
11 September 2017	Poland launches campaign "Fair Court" to mobilize
	support for judicial reform.
12 September 2017	Commission sends Reasoned Opinion on Ordinary Courts
	case.
11-15 September 2017	Minister of Justice dismisses court president according to
	new law on Ordinary courts, rule of law violations continue.
25 September 2017	Commission informs the Council again on the situation in
	Poland.
26 September 2017	Polish President transmits to the Sejm two new draft laws
	on the Supreme Court and on the National Council for the
	Judiciary.
12 October 2017	Poland replies to Reasoned Opinion and denies the breach.
15 November 2017	EP resolution: supporting Commission's
	Recommendations and launch of the infringement
	procedure; LIBE is instructed to draft a reasoned proposal
	to the Council to activate Article 7(1).
8 December 2017	Two new draft laws proposed by the President adopted by
	the Sejm, the lower house of the Polish Parliament.
	Venice Commission adopts two opinions on the judicial
	reforms in Poland, concluding that they threaten the judicial
	independence.

15 December 2017	The two laws approved by the Polish Senate, the upper
	house of the Polish parliament.
20 December 2017	Commission activates the Article 7(1) procedure, sends a
	reasoned proposal to the Council to determine a clear risk
	of serious breach.
20 December 2017	Commission refers the Ordinary Courts Procedure to CJEU
	(C-192/18): different retirement age based on gender and
	power of Minister of Justice to prolong judge's term.
26 June 2018	First formal hearing in the General Affairs Council
	concerning Commission's proposal.
2 July 2018	Infringement procedure on the Polish Law on the Supreme
	Court launched: Commission sends a Letter of Formal
	Notice.
2 August 2018	Poland replies to Letter of Formal Notice rejecting the
	concerns.
14 August 2018	Commission sends a Reasoned Opinion concerning
	Supreme Court Law.
14 September 2018	Poland replies to the Reasoned Opinion rejecting the
	concerns.
18 September 2018	Second formal hearing in the Council.
24 September 2018	Commission refers the Supreme Court case to CJEU (C-
	619/18).
11 December 2018	Third formal hearing in the Council.
17 December 2018	CJEU rules to take interim measures concerning Polish
	Law on Supreme Court.
19 February 2019	GA Council discusses Article 7 progress, no conclusions.
3 April 2019	Third infringement procedure launched against new
	disciplinary regime for Polish judges: Letter of Formal
	Notice.
24 June 2019	CJEU rules on Supreme Court case: it breaches principle of
	judicial independence.

17 July 2019	Commission issues Reasoned Opinion regarding
	disciplinary regime for Polish judges.
10 October 2019	Commission refers Poland to CJEU regarding disciplinary
	regime for judges.
5 November 2019	CJEU rules that Poland's actions constitute EU law breach
February 2020	President signed into force a new bill "muzzle law", which
	gives the right to punish judges opposing government

Table 1, Timeline of developments in Poland, based on López Garrido and López Castillo, 2019, pp. 22-23; Marzocchi, 2019, pp. 4-5; Eur-Lex, 2017a

Appendix 2

2010	Fidesz party wins parliamentary elections.
2012	Constitution modification.
2012	Hungary is referred to EP Committee on Civil
	Liberties for disregarding Art. 2.
17 January 2012	Commission sends a letter of formal notice.
17 February 2012	Hungary replies to letter of formal notice.
7 March 2012	Commission issues reasoned opinion .
30 March 2012	Hungary sends a reply.
7 June 2012	Commission refers Hungary to CJEU.
6 November 2012	CJEU rules that lowering retirement age for judges
	constitutes an directive violation.
July 2013	EP approves the "Tavares report". Commission and
	European Council do not react.
10 June 2015	EP resolution: asking the Commission to launch the
	Rule of Law Framework.
10 November 2015	The EP sends the Commission an oral question on
	measures taken against Hungary; no answer
	received.
16 December 2015	EP resolution: condemning changes of law on access
	to international protection; inaction of the Council;

	asking Commission to launch the Rule of Law
	Framework.
17 May 2017	EP resolution: insisting on the clear risk of value
	breach and invoking Article 7(1). LIBE instructed to
	draft a reasoned proposal to trigger Article 7(1).
7 December 2017	EP: public hearing on the situation on Hungary.
12 September 2018	EP resolution: calling the Council to declare risk of
	serious value breach in Hungary .
June 2018	EP votes for triggering Article 7 against Hungary.
19 February 2019	GA Council discusses Article 7 progress, no
	conclusions.
30 March 2020	Parliament adopted the "Enabling act"

Table 2, Timeline of developments in Hungary, based on López Garrido and López Castillo, 2019, p. 30 and Marzocchi, 2019, pp. 4

Non-exclusive licence to reproduce thesis and make thesis public

I, Taisiia Nahorna

(personal identification code: 49704220034)

1. herewith grant the University of Tartu a free permit (non-exclusive licence) to

reproduce, for the purpose of preservation and making thesis public, including for adding to the DSpace digital archives until the expiry of the term of copyright, my thesis entitled

Enforcement of the European Union core values: EU responses to the erosion of the European values in Austria, Poland and Hungary,

supervised by Dr. Piret Ehin.

- 2. I grant the University of Tartu a permit to make the work specified in p. 1 available to the public via the web environment of the University of Tartu, including via the DSpace digital archives, until the expiry of the term of copyright.
- 3. I am aware of the fact that the author retains the rights specified in pp. 1 and 2.
- 4. I certify that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights or rights arising from the personal data protection legislation.

Done at Tartu on 17/05/2020

Taisiia Nahorna